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STRATEGIC REPORT

Introduction

Goldman Sachs International Bank (the bank) acts as a primary dealer for European government bonds and 1s
involved 1n market making in European government bonds, lending and deposit taking activities, and securities
lending  The bank’s principal office 1s in the United Kingdom, but the bank also operates branches in Korea (the
Seoul branch), which 1s involved in client execution activities, and Germany (the Frankfurt branch), which 1s
involved n lending activities, and has representative offices in China (the Beiing rep office) and Turkey (the
Istanbul rep office)

The bank’s primary regulators are the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) and the Financial Conduct Authority
(FCA)

The bank’s ultimate parent undertaking and controlling entity 15 The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc (Group Inc)
Group Inc 1s a bank holding company and a financial holding company regulated by the Board of Governors of the
Federal Reserve System (Federal Reserve Board) Group Inc, together with its consohdated subsidiaries, form
“GS Group”™ or “the group” GS Group 15 a leading global investment banking, secunties and investment
management firm that provides a wide range of financial services to a substantial and diversified client base that
tncludes corporations, financial institutions, governments and individuals ~ GS Group has a presence 1n Europe, the
Middle East and Africa (EMEA) through a number of subsidianes, including the bank

As part of the group, the bank seeks to be a leading participant in the global financial markets 1n which ut
participates

References to “the financial statements” are to the directors’ report and audited financial statements as presented in
Part 11 of this annual report Al references to 2015 and 2014 refer to the years ended, or the dates, as the context
requires, December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively

Unless otherwise stated, all amounts in this annual report are prepared in accordance with the new FRS 101
framework (FRS 101), and the terms FRS 101 and Umted Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practices
(UK GAAP) are used interchangeably See “Adoption of FRS 101" below for further information about the
bank’s transition from the previous U K GAAP to FRS 101

Executive Overview

Profit and Loss Account

The profit and loss account 15 set out on page 21 of this annual report

Net interest income was $24 million for 2015, compared with net :nterest expense of $10 million for 2014  This
increase reflects the bank’s continued focus on the diversification of funding sources and management of excess
hiquidity as the bank continues to expand its lending activities

Trading profit was $257 mullion for 2015, compared with $98 million for 2014 This increase reflects stronger
perfermance in the bank’s European government bond market-making business as higher levels of volatihity led to

improved market-making conditions

Adminmstrative expenses were $93 million for 2015, compared with $76 mulion for 2014  This increase reflects
increased management fees charged by group undertakings

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation was $188 nullien for 20135, compared with $12 mullion for 2014
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Executive Overview (continued)
Balance Sheet
The balance sheet 1s set out on page 22 of this annual report

As of December 2015, total assets were $40 93 billion, a decrease of $852 million from December 2014  This
decrease reflected a reduction in financial tnstruments owned of $4 13 billion, partially offset by an increase in
collateralised agreements with group undertakings of 32 12 billion  Financial mstruments owned decreased
primanly due to a reduction in the fairr value of denvative instruments  Collateralised agreements with group
undertakings increased primartly due to an increase 1n deposit taking activities

As of December 2015, total habilities were $38 12 billion, a decrease of $993 mullion from December 2014  This
decrease reflected a reduction 1n financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased of $4 18 billion, partially offset
by an increase in customer accounts payable of $4 03 billion  Financial istruments sold, but not yet purchased
decreased primanly due to a reduction in the fair value of derivative instruments  Customer accounts payable
mcreased primarily due to an increase in deposit taking activities

The balance sheet included the following amounts related to lending and deposit taking activities

December 2015 December 2014

$°000 $°000

Lending activities
Bank loans included 1n customer accounts receivable 1,866,017 428,724
Bank loans included n financial instruments owned 70,065 204,629
Total lending activities 1,936,082 633,353
Deposit taking activifies
Customer deposits included in customer accounts payable 13,492,360 9,497,616
Deposits from group undertakings included in customer accounts

payable 1,387,190 1,168,272
Included in deposits by banks 1,955,165 3,292,680
Total deposit takung activities 16,834,715 13,958,568

The unfunded portion of bank loans held as principal risk was $3 96 billion and $1 68 lillion as of December 2015
and December 2014, respectively

In addition to the lending activities detailed above, the bank reinvests funds generated from deposit taking activities
on both a secured and unsecured basis with group undertakings

Post Balance Sheet Events

[n January 2016, following the conclusion of an congoing review of the group’s operations in Korea, it was
determined that the client execution activities conducted by the Seoul branch would be transferred to group
undertakings, and that the bank’s Seoul branch would subsequently be closed The bank 1s currently assessing the
financial impact of the closure

Future Quilook
The directors consider that the year-end financial position of the bank was satisfactory  Other than the closure of

the Seoul branch as disclosed in the post balance sheet events above, no significant change in the bank’s principal
business activities 1s currently expected
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Business Environment
Global

During 2015, real gross domestic product (GDP) growth appeared stable but subdued 1n most advanced economies
and weaker 1n emerging market econorues compared with 2014 In developed markets, growth was higher 1n the
Euro area and Japan, while growth in the United Kingdom was tower and growth in the Untited States remained
stable In emerging markets, many economies suffered from lower commodity prices, and Latin Amertca was
particularly weak with negative aggregate growth 1n 2015  Monetary policy diverged in 2015, as the U S Federal
Reserve increased its target interest rate, while policy remamed accommodative in the Euro area and Japan In
addition, o1l prices declined by 30%, and there were concerns about the debt situation 1n Greece earlier in the year
and China’s growth outlook later in the year In mvestment banking, industry-wide mergers and acquisitions
activity remained strong, whtle industry-wide activity in both debt and equity underwriting declined compared with
2014

Europe

In the Euro area, real GDP increased by | 5% n 2015, compared to an increase of (9% i 2014, as fixed
investment, consumer spending and government consumption all grew  Measures of inflation remained subdued,
prompting the European Central Bank (ECB} to announce quantitative easing in the form of an expanded asset
purchase programme in January 2015 The central bank continued its asset purchase programme through the
second and third quarters and announced further easing measures n the fourth quarter, cutting the deposit rate by 10
basis pomnts to (0 30)% and extending purchases to March 2017 The ECB mamntamned its mawn refinancing
operations rate at 0 05% durning 2015 The Euro depreciated by 10% against the U S dollar In the United
Kingdom, real GDP increased by 22% in 2013, compared with an increase of 2 9% in 2014 The Bank of
England mamtained its official bank rate at 0 50% and the British pound depreciated by 5% against the U S dollar
Yields on 10-year government bonds in the region generally increased slightly during the year  [n equity markets,
the DAX Index, CAC 40 Index and the Euro Stoxx 50 Index mcreased by 0%, 9%, and 4%, respectively, while the
FTSE 100 Index decreased by 5% during 20135

Korea

In Korea, real GDP increased by 2 6% tn 2015, compared te an increase of 3 3% 1n 2014, the slower growth rate
reflecting regional trade stagnation from structural headwinds including Chinese rebalancing and technological
changes The Korean government cut the policy rate on two occasions by 25 basis points each to 1 50% The
Korean won depreciated by 7% against the U S dollar

Adoption of FRS 101

The Financial Reporting Counctl revised financial reporting standards in the UK and Republic of lreland for
accounting pertods beginning on or after January 1, 2015  The rewisions fundamentally reform UK GAAP,
replacing the previous standards {previous UK GAAP) From January 1, 2015, the bank has transitioned from
the previous U K GAAP to FRS 101, which applies the recogmition and measurement requirements of International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Unmion (EU)  All periods presented in this
annual report are prepared n accordance with FRS 101 The impact of adopting FRS 101 and consequential
changes (n accounting policy have been described in Notes 2 and 4 to the financial statements and summarnised
below

= Other assets and retained earnings increased by $65 million as of December 2014, and tax on profit on
ordinary activities increased by $712,000 for 2014 due to the adoption of IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’

. Collaterahsed agreements and collateralised financings reduced by $11 mullion as of December 2014 due to
the adoption of IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments Presentation’
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Adoption of FRS 101 (continued)

»  Customer accounts recervable, financial instruments owned and customer accounts payable decreased by
$1 50 bullion, $843 mllion and $2 37 tillion, respecuvely, as of December 2014 and financial instruments
sold, but not yet purchased increased by $31 million as of December 2014 due to the adoption of settlement
date accounting for regular-way purchases and sales of cash instruments, as permitted by [AS 39 ‘Financial
Instruments Recognition and Measurement’

. Level 3 financial assets and financial habilities decreased by $128 million as of December 2014 due to the
adoption of [FRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’

= Commutments increased by $680,000 as of December 2014 due to the adoption of IAS 17 ‘Leases’ Under
the previous U K GAAP, only the rentals the bank was commutted to pay in the following year in respect of
1ts operating leases were disclosed These were categorised by the matunty date of the lease Upon
adoption of 1AS 17 ‘Leases’, the bank 1s now required to disclose the total future mimmum lease payments
payable by year mnstead

In addition, FRS 101 has resulted m the bank providing addittonal disclosures relating to financial assets and
financial habilities due to the adoption of IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’ and IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value
Measurement’

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The bank faces a variety of nisks and uncertainties that are substantral and inherent in its businesses including
market, hquidity, credit, operational, legal, regulatory and reputational nisks and uncertaintiecs  The following are

some of the more important factors that could affect the bank’s businesses

Economic and Market Conditions

The bank’s businesses, by their nature, do not produce predictable earnings and are materially affected by
conditions in the global financial markets and economic conditions generally, both directly and through their impact
on client activity levels  These conditions can change suddenly and negatively

A determination by the U K to exit or otherwise sigmficantly change its relationship with the EU could affect the
manner 1n which the bank conducts its businesses

Regulation

As a participant in the financial services industry and a subsidrary of a systemically unportant financial institution,
the bank 1s subject to exiensive regulation princtpally in the United Kingdom and the Eurcpean Umon more
generally but also in the United States as a subsidiary of GS Group and n certain other junisdictions  The bank
faces the nisk of sigmificant intervention by regulatory and tax authorities in all jurisdictions in which 1t conducts 1ts
businesses  In many cases, the bank’s activities may be subject to overlapping and divergent regulation 1n
different junsdictions  Among other things, as a result of regulators or private parties challenging the bank’s
comphance with laws and regulations, 1t could be fined, prohibited from engaging in certain business activities,
subject to limitations or conditions on 1ts business activities or subjected to new or substantially higher taxes or
other governmental charges in connectton with the conduct of its businesses or with respect to its employees
Such hmitations or condstions may negatively impact the bank’s profitability
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

If there are new laws or regulations or changes n the enforcement of existing laws or regulations apphicable to the
bank’s businesses or those of the bank’s clients, including capital, hquidity, leverage, long-term debt, loss absorbing
capacity and margin requirements, restrictions on other business practices, reporting requirements, requirements
relating to the implementation of the EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (BRRD), tax burdens and
compensation restrictions, that are imposed on a hmuted subset of financial institutions (ewther based on size,
activities, geography or other criterta) which may include the bank or Group Inc, comphance with these new laws
and regulations, or changes 1n the enforcement of existing laws or regulations, could adversely affect the bank’s
abihty to compete effectively with other institutions that are not affected in the same way  In addition, regulation
imposed on financial institutions or market participants generally, such as taxes on financial transactions, could
adversely impact levels of market activity more broadly, and thus impact the bank’s businesses

These developments could impact the bank’s profitability in the affected junisdictions, or even make 1t uneconomic
to continue to conduct all or certain businesses 1n such jurisdictions, or could result in the bank incurring significant
costs associated with changing business practices, restructuring businesses, moving certain businesses and
employees to other locations or complying with applicable capital requirements, including liquidating assets or
raising capital in a manner that adversely increases the bank’s funding costs or otherwise adversely affects its
shareholder and creditors

Regulatory developments, in particular the Markets 1n Financial Instruments Regulation and a revision of the
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (collectively, MiFID 11), the Basel Commuttee’s final capital framework
for strengthening 1nternational capital standards (Basel [I[) and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act) have significantly altered the regulatory framework within which the bank
operates and may adversely affect the bank’s competitive position and profitability

The EU and national financial legislators and regulators have proposed or adopted numerous market reforms that
have impacted and may continue to impact the bank’s businesses These include stricter capital and liquidity
requirements, including legislation (1n the form of the fourth EU Capital Requirements Directive and EU Capatal
Requirements Regulation, collectively known as “CRD 1V™) to implement Basel 11l capital requirements for the
bank  In addition, the EU has finalised MiFID I1, which 1s scheduled to become effective 1n January 2018

The Eurcpean Commission has also published a draft proposal for structural reform of EU banks, which would
prolubit certain banks from proprietary trading and would require separating certain trading activities from deposit
taking entities

Additional market reforms also include rules on the recovery and resolution of EU institutions, rules on the
separation of certain trading activities from deposit taking and rules on the cross-border provision of services from
countries outside the European Economic Area The implementation of these reforms may adversely affect the
bank’s profitability and cempetitive position, particularly 1f these requirements do not apply, or do not apply
equally, to the bank’s competitors or are not implemented uniformly across jurisdictions

The mmplementation of higher capital requirements, the hquidity coverage ratio, the net stable funding ratio,
requirements relating to long-term debt and total loss-absorbing capacity and the prohibition on proprietary trading
by the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act referred to as the “Volcker Rule” may adversely affect the bank’s
profitability and competitive position, particularly if these requirements do not apply, or do not apply equally, to the
bank’s competitors or are not implemented uniformly across jurisdictions

The circumstances in which a resolution authority would exercise 1ts *bail-in” powers to recapitalise a falling entity
by writing down 1ts unsecured debt or converting 1t into equity are uncertain  If these powers were to be exercised
(or 1f there was a suggestton that they could be exercised) in respect of the bank, such exercise would likely have a
material adverse effect on the value of debt investments n the bank, including a potential loss of some or all of such
investment  Furthermore, the suggestion that such powers were to be exercised could also have an adverse impact
on the value of such investments
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

The bank 1s also subject to laws and regulations relating to the privacy of the information of chents, employees or
others, and any failure to comply with these regulations could expose the bank to habihty and/or reputational
damage In addition, the bank’s businesses are increasingly subject to laws and regulations relating to
surveillance, encryption and data on-shoring in the jurisdictions 1n which the bank operates Compliance with
these laws and regulations may require the bank to change its policies, procedures and technology for information
security, which could, among other things, make the bank more vulnerable to cyber attacks and misappropriation,
corruption or loss of information or technology

Increasingly, regulators and courts have sought to hold financial nstituttons liable for the misconduct of their
chients where such regulators and courts have determined that the financial institution should have detected that the
client was engaged 1n wrongdoing, even though the financial institution had no direct knowledge of the activities
engaged 1n by 1ts client  Regulators and courts have also increasingly found hability as a “control person™ for
activities of entifies in which financial institutions or funds controlled by financial institutions have an investment,
but which they do not actively manage In addition, regulators and courts continue to seek to establish “fiduciary”
obligations to counterparties to which no such duty had been assumed to exist  To the extent that such efforts are
successful, the cost of, and hiabilities associated with, engaging i brokerage, clearing, market-making, prime
brokerage, investing and other similar activities could increase significantly

Market Volanlhity

Certain market-making activities depend on market volatility te provide trading and arbitrage opportunities to
clients and decreases 1n volatility may reduce these opportunities and adversely affect the results of these activities
In contrast, increased volatility, whalst 1t can increase trading volumes and spreads, also increases risk as measured
by Value-at-Risk (VaR) and may expose the bank to mcreased risks in connection with market-making activities or
cause the bank to reduce 1ts market-making positions to avoird increasing VaR  Lumting the size of such
market-making posifions can adversely affect the bank’s profitability In periods when volatility 1s increasing, but
asset values are dechining significantly, 1t may not be possible to sell assets at all or 1t may only be possible to do so
at steep discounts  In such circumstances, the bank may be forced to either take on additional risk or to realise
losses in order to decrease 1ts VaR  [n addition, increases in volatility increase the level of the bank’s
risk-weighted assets (RW As), which increases the bank’s capital requirements

Liguidity

Liquidity 1s essential to the bank’s businesses The bank’s hquidity could be impaired by an inabihity to access
secured and/or unsecured debt markets, an tnability to access funds from Group Inc or other affihates, an mability
to sell assets or redeem investments or unforeseen outflows of cash or collateral  This situation may arise due to
circumstances that the bank may be unable to control, such as a general market disruption or an operational problem
that affects third parties or the bank or its affihiates or even by the perception amongst market participants that the
bank, or other market participants, are expertencing greater hiquidity risk

Further, the bank’s ability to sell assets may be impaired 1f other market participants are seeking to sell stmilar
assets at the same time, as 1s hkely to occur 1n a hquidity or other market cnisis or 1n response to changes to rules or
regulations  In addition, financial mstitutions with which the bank interacts may exercise set-off nghts or the right
to require addimional collateral, including in difficult market conditions, which could further impair the bank’s
access to iquidity

Concentration of Risk

Concentration of risk increases the potential for significant losses in market-making, underwriting, and investing
activities  The number and size of such transactions may affect the bank’s results of operations in a given pertod
Moreover, because of concentration of nisk, the bank may suffer losses even when economic and market conditions
are generally favourable for competitors  Disruptions in the credit markets can make 1t difficult to hedge these
credit exposures effectively or economucally
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Prmcipal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Credit Quabity

The bank 15 exposed to the nisk that third parties who owe money, securities or other assets will not perform therr
obligations These parties may default on their obligations to the bank due to bankruptcy, lack of hquidity,
operational failure or other reasons A failure of a significant market participant, or even concerns about a default
by such an institution, could lead to significant hiquidity problems, losses or defaults by other institutions, which in
turn could adversely affect the bank

The bank 1s also subject to the nsk that its nghts against third parties may not be enforceable in all circumstances
In addition, deterioration tn the credit quality of third parties whose secunties or obligations are held by the bank,
including a deterioration 1n the value of collateral posted by third parties to secure their obligations to the bank
under derivatives contracts and loan agreements, could result in losses and/or adversely affect the bank’s ability to
rehypothecate or otherwise use those securities or obhgations for iquidity purposes

A significant downgrade n the credit ratings of the bank’s counterparties could also have a negative tmpact on the
bank’s results  While in many cases the bank 15 permitted to require additional collateral from counterparties that
experience financial difficulty, disputes may arise as to the amount of collateral the bank 15 entitled to receive and
the value of pledged assets  The termination of contracts and the foreclosure on collateral may subject the bank to
claims for the improper exercise of its nghts  Default rates, downgrades and disputes with counterparties as to the
valuation of collateral increase significantly in imes of market stress and illiquidity

Dervative Transactions

The bank 15 party to a number of derivative transactions, including credit derivatives  Many of these derivative
instruments are individually negotiated and non-standardised, which can make exiting, transferring or settling
positions difficult  Many credit derivatives require that the bank deliver to the counterparty the underlying
security, loan or other obligation 1n order to receive payment In a number of cases, the bank does not hold the
underlying security, loan or other obligation and may not be able to obtain the underlying security, loan or other
obligation  This could cause the bank to forfeit the payments due under these contracts or result n settlement
delays with the attendant credit and operational risk as well as increased costs to the bank

Derivative transacttons may also involve the nsk that documentation has not been properly executed, that executed
agreements may not be enforceable against the counterparty, or that obligations under such agreements may not be
able to be netted against other obligations with such counterparty  In addition, counterparties may claim that such
transactions were not appropriate or authonised

Denvative contracts and other transactions entered into with third parties are not always confirmed by the
counterparties or settied on a timely basis  While the transaction remains unconfirmed or during any delay in
settlement, the bank 1s subject to heightened credit and operational risk and in the event of a default may find ut
more difficult to enforce its ghts  In addition, as new complex dertvative products are created, covering a wider
array of underlying credit and other instruments, disputes about the terms of the underlying contracts could arise,
which could impair the bank’s ability to effectively manage 1ts nisk exposures from these products and subject 1t to
increased costs The provisions of legislation requiring central clearing of credit denivatives and other
over-the-counter (OTC) denvatives, or a market shift toward standardised derivatves, could reduce the risk
associated with such transactions, but under certain circumstances could also hirmit the bank’s ability to develop
derivatives that best suit the needs of clients and to hedge 1ts own nisks, and could adversely affect the bank’s
profitability and mncrease credit exposure to such a platform
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Operational Infrastructure

The bank’s businesses are highly dependent on tts ability to process and moritor, on a daily basis, a large number of
transactions, many of which are highly complex, and occur at high volumes and frequencies, across numerous and
diverse markets in many currencies  These transactions, as well as information technology services provided to
chients, often must adhere to client-specific guidelines, as well as legal and regulatory standards

Many rules and regulations worldwide govern the bank’s obligations to report transactions to regulators, exchanges
and mnvestors  Compliance with these legal and reporting requirements can be challenging, and the bank and other
financial institutions have been subject to regulatory fines and penalues for failling to report imely, accurate and
complete information  As reporting requirements expand, comphiance with these rules and regulations has become
more challenging

As the bank’s chent base and geographical reach expands, and the volume, speed, frequency and complexity of
transactions, especially electromic transactions {(as well as the requirements to report such transactions on a real-time
basis to chents, regulators and exchanges) increases, developing and maintaiming operational systems and
infrastructure becomes more challenging, and the nsk of systems or human error in connection with such
transactions (ncreases, as well as the potential consequences of such errors due to the speed and volume of
transachions involved and the potential difficulty associated with discovering such errors quickly enough to limit the
resulting consequences

Financial, accounting, data processing or other operating systems and facilies may fail to operate properly or
become disabled as a result of events that are wholly or partially beyond the bank’s control, such as a spike n
transactton volume, adversely affecting the bank’s ability to process these transactions or provide these services
The bank must continuously update these systems to support 1ts operations and growth and to respond to changes In
regulations and markets, and invest heavily in systemic controls and training to ensure that such transactions do not
violate applicable tules and regulations or, due to errors in processing such transactions, adversely affect markets,
clients and counterparties or the bank itself

Systems enhancements and updates, as well as the requistte traiming, including in connection with the integration of
new busimesses, entail sigmficant costs and create risks associated with implementing new systems and integrating
them with existing ones

Notwithstanding the proliferation of technology and technology-based misk and control systems, the bank’s
businesses ultimately rely on human beings as their greatest resource, and from time-to-time, mistakes are made
that are not always caught immediately by technological processes or by other procedures which are intended to
prevent and detect such errors These can include calculation errors, mustakes in addressing emails, errors in
software development or implementation, or simple errors an judgement  The bank strives to eliminate such
kuman errors through training, supervision, technology and by duplicate or overlapping processes and controls
Human errors, even if promptly discovered and remediated, can result in matenal losses and hiabihties for the bank

In addition, the bank faces the nisk of operational failure, termination or capacity constraints of any of the clearing
agents, exchanges, clearing houses or other financial intermediaries that it uses to facilitate securities and
derivatives transactions, and as interconnectivity with clients grows, the bank will increasingly face the risk of
operational failure with respect to chents’ systems
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Despite the resiliency plans and facilities that are in place, the bank’s ability to conduct business may be adversely
impacted by a disruption 1n the infrastructure that supports 1ts businesses and the communities in which the bank 1s
located This may include a disruption involving electrical, satellite, undersea or other communications, internet,
transportation or other services facilities used by the bank or third parties with which the bank conducts business,
mncluding cloud service providers  These disruptions may occur as a result of events that affect only the bank’s
buildings or systems or those of such third parties, or as a result of events with a broader impact globally, regionally
or 1n the cities where those buildings or systems are located, including, but not limited, to, natural disasters, war,
civit unrest, terronsm, economic or political devetlopments, pandemics and weather events

Technology

Technology s fundamental to the bank’s businesses and industry The growth of electronic trading and the
introduction of new technologies 1s changing these businesses and presenting the bank with new challenges
Secuniies, futures and options transactions are increasingly occurnng electromcally, both on the bank’s own
systems and through other alternative trading systems, and 1t appears that the trend toward alternative trading
systems will continue  Some of these alternative trading systems compete with the bank’s businesses, particularly
the bank’s exchange-based market-making activities, and the bank may experience continued competitive pressures
in these and other areas In addition, the increased use by clients of low-cost electronic trading systems and direct
electrontc access to trading markets could cause a reduction 1n commussions and spreads  As chents increasingly
use the bank’s systems to trade directly in the markets, the banh may incur habilities as a result of their use of the
bank’s order routing and execution infrastructure  Significant resources have been invested mto the development
of electronic trading systems and the bank expects to continue to do so, but there 15 no assurance that the revenues
generated by these systems will yield an adequate return on this investment, particularly given the generally lower
commissions ansing from electrontc trades

Cyber Secunity

The bank’s operations rely on the secure processing, storage and transmission of confidential and other information
In 1ts computer systems and networks  There have been several recent hughly publicised cases involving financial
services and consumer-based companies reporting the unauthorised disclosure of client or customer information in
recent years, as well as cyber attacks involving the dissemination, theft and destruction of corporate information or
other assets, as a result of falure to follow procedures by employees or contractors or as a result of actions by
third-parties, including actions by foreign governments

The bank 1s regularly the target of attempted cyber attacks, including denial-of-service afttacks, and must
continucusly momitor and develop its systems to protect 1ts technology infrastructure and data from
misappropriation or corruption  In addition, due to the nterconnectivity with third-party vendors, central agents,
exchanges, clearing houses and other financial nstitutions, the bank could be adversely impacted 1f any of them 1s
subject to a successful cyber attack or other information security event

Despite the bank’s efforts to ensure the integnty of its systems and information, 1t may not be able to anticipate,
detect or implement effective preventive measures against all cyber threats, especially because the techniques used
are increasingly sophisticated, change frequently and are often not recognised until launched Cyber attacks can
orniginate from a vanety of sources, including third parties who are affiliated with foreign governments or are
invelved with orgamsed crime or terronst orgamisations  Third parties may also attempt to place individuals
within the bank or induce employees, clients or other users of the bank’s systems to disclose sensitive information
or provide access to the bank’s data or that of its clients, and these types of risks may be difficult to detect or
prevent
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5.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties {(continued)

Although the bank takes protective measures and endeavours to modify them as circumstances warrant, its
compiuter systems, software and networks may be vulnerable to unauthonsed access, misuse, computer viruses or
other malicious code and other events that could have a secunity impact  [f one or more of such events occur, this
potentially could jeopardise the bank or 1ts chients’ or counterparties’ confidential and other information processed
and stored in, and transmutted through, the bank’s computer systems and networks, or otherwise cause interruptions
or malfunctions in the bank’s, 1ts chents’, 1ts counterparties’ or third parties’ operations, which could impact their
ability to transact with the bank or otherwise result in sigmficant losses or reputational damage

The 1ncreased use of mobile and cloud technologies can heighten these and other operational rishs  The bank
expects to expend significant additional resources on an ongoing basis to modify protective measures and to
investigate and remediate vulnerabilities or other exposures, but these measures may be ineffective and the bank
may be subject to Iiigation and financial losses that are either not insured against or not fully covered through any
insurance it maintams  Certain aspects of the security of such technologies are unpredictable or beyond the bank’s
control, and the fatlure by mobile technology and cloud service providers to adequately safeguard their systems and
prevent cyber attacks could disrupt the bank’s operations and result 1n musappropriation, corruption or loss of
confidential and other information  In addition, there 1s a nsk that encryption and other protective measures,
despite their sophistication, may be defeated, particularly to the extent that new computing technologies vastly
increase the speed and computing power available

The bank routinely transrmuts and recerves personal, confidential and proprietary information by email and other
electronic means  The bank has discussed and worked with clients, vendors, service providers, counterparties and
other third parties to develop secure transmission capabilities and protect against cyber attacks, but does not have,
and may be unable to put in place, secure capabihities with all of its chients, vendors, service providers,
counterparties and other third parties and it may not be able to ensure that these third parties have appropnate
controls 1n place to protect the confidentiality of the information  An interception, misuse or mishandhing of
personal, confidential or proprietary information being sent to or received from a client, vendor, service provider
counterparty or other third party could result tn legal hiability, regulatory action and reputational harm

Risk Managernent

The bank seeks to monitor and control 1ts risk exposure through a rnisk and control framework encompassing a
vanety of separate, but complementary financial, credit, operational, comphance and legal reporting systems,
internal controls, management review processes and other mechamsms The bank’s risk management process
seeks to balance its ability to profit from market-making positions with its exposure to potential losses  Whulst the
bank employs a broad and diversified set of nsk momtoring and risk mitigation techniques, those techniques and the
Judgements that accompany therr application cannot anticipate every economic and financial outcome or the
specifics and timing of such outcomes  Thus, the bank may, 1n the course of uts activities, incur losses  Market
conditions in recent years have involved unprecedented dislocations and highltght the imitations inherent (n using
historical data to manage risk

New Business Initiatives

The bank faces enhanced risks as new business imitianves lead 1t to transact with a broader array of clients and
counterparties and expose 1t to new asset classes and new markets A number of the bank’s recent and planned
business wnitiatives and expansions of existing businesses may bring 1t tnto contact, directly or indirectly, with
individuals and entities that are not within the bank’s tradinonal client and counterparty base and expose it to new
asset classes and new markets For example, the bank continues to transact business and invest in new regions,
including a wide range of emerging and growth markets

12




GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL BANK
(unhmited company)

STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)

5

Principal Risks and Uncertanties {continued)

New business inttiatives expose the bank to new and enhanced risks, including risks associated with dealing with
governmental entities, reputational concerns ansing from dealing with less sophisticated counterparties and
ivestors, greater regulatory scrutiny of these activities, increased credit-related, market, sovereign and operational
risks, risks arising from accidents or acts of terrorism, and reputational concerns with the manner tn which these
assets are being operated or held or in which the bank (nteracts with these counterparuies

Conflicts of Interest

A fallure to appropnately identify and address potenttal conflicts of interest could adversely affect the bank’s
businesses [Due to the broad scope of GS Group’s businesses and client base, the bank regularly addresses
potential conflicts of interest, mncluding situations where services to a particular client or GS Group’s own
investments or other interests conflict, or are perceived to conflict, with the interests of another clent, as well as
situattons where one or more of 1ts businesses have access to matenal non-public information that may not be
shared with other businesses within GS Group and situations where 1t may be a creditor of an entity with which GS
Group also has an advisory or other relationship

Extensive procedures and controls are in place that are designed to identify and address conflicts of interest,
including those designed to prevent the improper sharing of nformation among businesses  However,
appropriately 1dentifying and dealing with conflicts of nterest 1s complex and difficult, and the bank’s reputatton,
which 1s one of its most important assets, could be damaged and the wiliingness of chients to enter into transactions
with the bank may be affected 1f 1t fails, or appears to fail, to dentify, disclose and deal appropriately with conflicts
of interest  In addition, potential or percerved conflicts could give rise to huigation or regulatory enforcement
actions

Unforeseen or Catastrophic Events

The occurrence of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including the emergence of a pandemic, such as the Ebola or
Zika vtruses, or other widespread health emergency (or concerns over the possibility of such an emergency),
terrorist attacks, exireme terrestrial or solar weather events or other natural disasters, could create economic and
financial disruptions, and could lead to operational difficulties (sncluding travel hmitations) that could impair the
bank’s ability to manage 1its businesses and result in losses

Credit Ratings

The table below presents the unsecured credit ratings and outlook of the bank by Fitch, Inc (Fitch), Moody’s
[nvestors Service (Moody’s) and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (S&P)

As of December 2015

Fitch Moody’s S&P
Short-term Debt Fl P-1 A-1
Long-term Debt A Al A
Short-term Bank Deposits Fl P-1 N/A
Long-term Bank Deposits A Al N/A
Ratings Outiook Positive Stable Watch Positive
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Leverage Ratio

CRD 1V, as amended by the European Commission Delegated Act (the Delegated Act), introduced a new leverage
ratto, which compares CRD 1V’s defimition of Tier i capital to a measure of leverage exposure, defined as the sum
of assets less Tier 1 capital deductions plus certain off-balance-sheet exposures, including a measure of derwvatives
exposures, securities financing transacttons and commitments The Delegated Act does not currently inctude a
munimum leverage ratio requirement, however, the Basel Commuttee has proposed a mimimum requirement of 3%
Any required mimimum ratio 15 expected to become effecuve for the bank on January 1, 2018 As of December
2015, the bank had a leverage ratio of 129%  Thus leverage ratio 1s based on the bank’s current interpretation and
understanding of this rule and may evolve as its interpretation and application 1s discussed with the bank’s
regulators

Date of Authorisation of Issue

The strategic report was authonsed for 1ssue by the Board of Directors on Apnil 25,20

J. P. Herman
Secretary
Apnl 25, 2016
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended December 2015

Introduction

In accordance with section 414A of the Companies Act 2006, the directors have prepared a strategic report, which
15 included (n Part | of this annual report and which contains a review of the bank’s businesses and a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the bank  The directors have chosen 1o make reference to the future
ocutlook of the bank in the strategic report 1n accordance with section 414C(11) of the Companies Act 2006  The
bank’s nsk management objectives and policies, including exposures to market nisk, credit nisk and hquidity nisk,
are described in Note 25 to the financial statements

Dividends
The directors do not recommend the payment of an ordinary dividend for 2015 No dividends were paid in 2014
Exchange Rate

The Bnitish pound/U S dollar exchange rate was £/$1 4732 and £/$1 3579 as of December 2015 and December
2014, respectively  The average rate for the year was £/31 5252 and £/$1 6455 for 2015 and 2014, respectively

Employment of Disabled Persons

Apphications for employment by disabled persons are fully and fairly considered with regard to the aptitudes and
abilities of each applicant  Efforts are made to enable any employees who become disabled during employment to
continue therr careers within GS Group  Traming, career development and promotion of disabled persons are, to
the extent possible, :dentical to that of other employees who are not disabled

Emplovee Involvement

It 15 G5 Group policy that there should be effective commurmication with all employees who, subject to practical and
commercial considerations, should be consulted on and involved 1n decisions that affect their current jobs or future
prospects  Employees share in performance-based incentive schemes

Disclosure of Information to Auditors
In the case of each of the persons who are directors of the bank at the date when this report was approved

. So far as each of the directors 1s aware, there 1s no relevant audit information of which the bank’s auditors are
unaware, and

*  Each of the directors has taken all the steps that he/she ocught to have taken as a director to make
himselfrherself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the bank’s auditors are aware of
that information

Independent Auditors

Prior to 1 October 2007, the bank passed an elective resolution under section 386 of the Companies Act 1985 to
dispense with the annual reappointment of auditers  PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will, accordingly, continue in
office as auditors of the bank pursuant to section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006 and paragraph 44 of Schedule 3
to the Companies Act 2006 (Commencement No 3 Consequential Amendment, Transitional Provisions and
Savings) Order 2007




GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL BANK
(unlimited company)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

8

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report, the directors’ report and the financial statements 1n
accordance with applicable law and regulations Company law requires the directors to prepare accounts for each
financiat period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the bank as at the end of the financial
peniod and of the profit or loss of the bank for that period  [n preparing those accounts, the directors are required
to

*  Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
. Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

*  State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed subject to any matenal departures disclosed
and explained 1n the financial statements, and

. Prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless 1t 1s nappropriate to presume that the bank will
continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any ume the financial positton of the bank and to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the bank and, hence, for taking
reasanable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the bank’s financial statements on the Goldman
Sachs website  Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other junisdictions

Directors

The directors of the bank who served throughout the year and to the date of this repon, except where noted, were

Name Appomnted Resigned
E G Corrigan, Chairman
Lord Grabiner March 3, 2016

Lord Gnffiths of Fforestfach

E H Leouzon

D W McDonogh

T L Miller August 4, 2015

D G J Paterson

E E Stecher

R A Vince October |, 2015
D D Wildermuth

No director had, at the year end, any interest requining note herein
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10, Date of Authorisation of Issue

The financial statements were authorised for 1ssue by the Board of Directors on April 252016

J. P Herman
Secretary
Apnil 25,2016




Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of
GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL BANK
(unlimited company)

Report on the financial statements

Our opmion
In our opinion, Goldman Sachs International Bank’s financial statements (the “financial statements™)

. give a true and fair view of the state of the bank’s affairs as of December 31, 2015 and of its profit for the year then ended,
. have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and
*  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

What we have audited
The financial statements, 1included within the Annual Report, comprise

. the Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2015,
*  the Profit and Loss Account and Statements of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended,
*  the Statements of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and

. the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information

The financial reporting framework that has been applied n the preparation of the financial statements 1s United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™, and applicable law (United Kingdom Generally
Accepied Accounting Practice)

In applying the iinancial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for example n

respect of sigmficant accounting estimates  [n making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future
events

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information grven in the Strategic Report and Directors® Report for the financal year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you (f, in our opimion

. we have not recerved all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or

+  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us, or

+ the financial statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibihity




Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of
GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL BANK
(unlimited company)

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you 1if, in our opiuon, certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made  We have no exceptions to report arising from this tesponsibility

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibtlities set out on page 17, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view

Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with apphicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”)  Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Audttors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the bank’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose  We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 15 shown or into whose hands 1t may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing

What an audit of financial statements involves

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland)  An audit invelves obtaiming evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material musstatement, whether caused by fraud or error  This includes an assessment of

. whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the bank’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed,

+  the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and
*  the overall presentation of the financial statements

We primanly focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ judgements against available evidence, forming our own
Judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements

We test and examine information, using samphng and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide
a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls,
substantive procedures or a combination of both

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information 1n the Annual Report to identify matenial inconsistencies
with the audited financial statements and to 1dentify any information that 1s apparently materially incorrect based on, or
matertatly inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit  If we become aware of any
apparent matenial misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report

Duncan McNab (Sentor Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

7 More London Riverside

London

SE1 2RT

Apn! 25, 2016
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
year ended December 2015

Interest recervable and similar income

Interest payable and simular charges

Net interest income/(expense)

Trading profit

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME

Admimstrative expenses

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION
Tax on profit on ordinary activities

PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

Year Ended Year Ended

December 2015 December 2014

Note §$*000 $'000
7 114,580 77,953
g (90,951) (88,378)
23,629 (10,425)

6 256,728 98,315
5 280,357 87,890
9 (92,823) (75,636)
187,534 12,254

13 (44,126) (1,022)
143,408 11,232

Total operating income and profit on ord:nary activities before taxation of the bank are derived from continuing operations 1n

the current and prior years

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

vear ended December 20135

Profit for the financial year

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED SUBSEQUENTLY TO
PROFIT OR LOSS

Translation loss
Gain on net investment hedge

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE FINANCIAL
YEAR

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Year Ended Year Ended
December 2015 December 2014
$000 $'000

143,408 11,232
(12,774) (8,674)

10,467 4,246

(2,307) (4,428)

141,101 6,804
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(unlimited company)

BALANCE SHEET
as of December 2015

ASSETS

Cash at bank and i hand
Customer accounts receivable

Financial instruments owned (imcludes $7,124,105 and $7,234,608
pledged as collateral as of December 2015 and December 2014,

respectively)
Collateralised agreements with group undertakings
Tangible fixed assets
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS

Customer accounts payable

Deposits by banks

Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased
Collateralised financings with group undertakings
Other hiabilities

Long-term subordinated loans from group undertakings
TOTAL LIABILITIES

Called up share capital

Share premium account

Cumulative translation reserve

Profit and loss account

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER'S FUNDS

MEMORANDUM ITEMS

Commitments

Contingent habilities

Note

15
16
17
18

20

21
22

23

24
24

December 2015 December 2014
$°000 5000
289,437 115919
2,748,390 1,813,812
12,216,567 16,349,676
24,818,466 22,697,712
795 727
859,264 806,779
40,932,919 41,784,625
15,515,407 11,482,379
1,955,165 3,292,680
8,822,978 13,005,360
9,588,216 8,965,595
1,416,446 1,544,823
826,000 826,182
38,124,212 39,117,019
62,558 62,558
2,094,303 2,094,303
(21,884) (19,577)
673,730 530,322
2,808,707 2,667,606
40,932,919 41,784,625
4,846,104 4,681,295
1,215,544 2,415,156

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on Apnil 25, 2016 and signed on its behalf by

3%\*@94

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Company number 01122503

D. W. McDonogh
Director
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Balance, beginming of 2015
Profit for the financial year
Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive income for the
financial year

Share-based payments
Management recharge related to
share-based payments

Balance, end of 2015

Balance, beginning of 2014
Profit for the financial year
Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive income for the
financial year

Share-based payments
Management recharge related to
share-based payments

Balance, end of 2014

No dividends were patd 1n 2015 and 2014,

year ended December 2015

Share Cumulative Total

Called up premium translation Profit and shareholder’s
share capital account reserve  loss account funds
5000 5000 $’000 3000 $'000
62,558 2,094,303 (19,577) 530,322 2,667,606

- - - 143,408 143,408

- - (2,307) - {2,307)

62,558 2,094,303 (21,884) 673,730 2,808,707

- - - 859 859

- - - (859) (859)

62,558 2,094,303 (21,884) 673,730 2,808,707
Share  Cumulative Total

Called up premizm translation Profit and shareholder’s
share capital account reserve  loss account funds
$°000 $’000 $°000 $’000 $°000
62,558 2,094,303 (15,149) 519,080 2,660,802

- - - 11,232 11,232

- - (4,428) - (4,428)

62,558 2,004,303 (19,577) 530,322 2,667,606

- - - 229 229

- - - (229) (229)

62,558 2,094,303 (19,577) 530,322 2,667,606

The accompanying notes are an mntegral part of these financial statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - DECEMBER 2015

GENERAL INFORMATION

The bank 1s a private unlumited company and 1s incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales  The address of
its registered office 15 Peterborough Court, 133 Fleet Street, London, EC4A 2BB, United Kingdom

The bank’s immediate parent undertaking 1s Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited (GSGUK), a cempany
incorporated and domiciled in Engtand and Wales

The ulumate contrelling undertaking and the parent company of the smallest and largest group for which
consolidated financial statements are prepared 1s The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, a company incerporated in the
United States of America  Copues of 1ts conschdated financial statements, as well as certain regulatory filings, for
example Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Annual Report on Form 10-K, that provide additional information
about GS Group and its business activities, can be obtained from Investor Relations, 200 West Street, New York,
NY 10282, United States of America, GS Group’s pnncipal place of busimness, or at
www goldmansachs com/shareholders/

Basel I1I Pillar 3 Disclosures

The bank 1s included in the consoltdated Pillar 3 disclosures of GSGUK, which are required by the EU Caputal
Requirements Regulation GSGUK’s 2015 Pillar 3 disclosures will be made avallable in conjunction with the
publication of its financial statements at www goldmansachs com/disclosures/

Country-by-Country Reporting

The bank 1s included n the consolidated country-by-country reporting disclosures of GSGUK, which are required
by the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 GSGUK’s 2015
country-by-country  disclosures  will  be made availlable by  December 31, 2016 at
www goldmansachs com/disclosures/

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a. Basis of Presentatton

For all periods up to and including the year ended December 2014, the bank prepared its financial statements 1n
accordance with the previous UK GAAP  From January 1, 2015, the bank transitioned from the previous UK
GAAP to FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 101)  These financial statements are for the first full
annual period covered by FRS 101  All pertods presented n these financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with FRS 101  The impact on the bank’s financial statements as a result of adopting FRS 101 15
described 1n Note 4

These financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, under the historical cost convention
(modified as explained in “Financial Assets and Financial Liabihiies” below), and in accordance with the
Compames Act 2006

The following exemptions from the disclosure requirements of [FRS as adopted by the EU have been apphied in the
preparation of these financial statements in accordance with FRS 101

. IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ paragraph 45(b} and 46 to 52 These disclosures are provided in the
consohidated financial statements of Group Inc

. [AS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ paragraph 38 to present comparative information in respect of
» 1AS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ paragraph 7%(a)(1v), and

= IAS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ paragraph 73(e)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — DECEMBER 2015

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

a Basis of Presentation (continued)

EAS | ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ paragraphs 10(f), 16, and 40A-D,

«  TAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’,

. IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ paragraphs 30 and 31,
+  1AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ paragraph 17, and

. IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ requirements to disclose transactions with companies also whoelly owned
within GS Group

b. Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognithon, Total operating income, comprises revenues from market making in European government
bonds, client execution activities, lending and deposit taking activities, and securities lending

Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading or designated at faiwr value through profit or loss are
recognised at fair value with reahised and unrealised gains and losses as well as associated interest and expenses
included 1n total operating income  Financial assets are marked to bid prices and financial habilities are marked to
offer prices  Fair value measurements do not include transaction costs

Non-derivative financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased (1€, cash
instruments) are recognised using settlement date accounting  See “Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities —
Recognition and Derecognition” below for further details  Unrealised gains and losses related to the change in the
fair value of these instruments between trade date and settlement date are recognised within trading piofit

Loans and receivables, and financial habilities measured at amortised cost are nitiaily recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method  Finance
revenue Is recorded n interest recervable and similar income  Finance costs, including discounts allowed on 1ssue,
are recorded 1n interest payable and sinilar charges

Commussion revenues from securities lending are recognised on the day the trade 1s executed

Operating Leases. The bank has entered into operating lease arrangements as the lessee  Leased assets are not
recogmised on the balance sheet  Costs 1n respect of operating leases, adjusted for any incentives granted by the
lessor, are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term and included within administrative expenses n the
profit and loss account

Shert-Term Employee Benefits Short-term employee benefits, such as wages and salanes, are measured on an
undiscounted basis and accrued as an expense over the period in which the employee renders the service to the
bank Prowviston 1s made for discretionary year-end compensation whether to be pad n cash or share-based
awards where, as a result of bank policy and past practice, a constructive obligation exists at the balance sheet date

Share-Based Payments. Group Inc (ssues awards in the form of restricted stock units (RSUs) to the bank’s
employees for services rendered to the bank Awards are classified as equity settled and hence the cost of
share-based transactions with employees 1s measured based on the grant-date fair value of the award  Share-based
awards that do not require future service (1 e, vested awards, including awards granted to retirement ehgible
employees) are expensed immediately  Share-based awards that require future service are amortised over the
relevant service period Expected forfeitures are included in determining share-based employee compensation
expense
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
b. Accounting Policies (continued)

Group Inc settles equity awards through the delivery of its ordinary shares Group Inc pays cash dividend
equivalents on outstanding RSUs  The bank has also entered into a chargeback agreement with Group Inc under
which 1t 15 commutted to pay to Group Inc the grant-date fair value as well as subsequent movements in fair value
of those awards to Group Inc at the time of delivery to its employees

Dwvidends Final equity dividends are recogmsed as a liabihity and deducted from equity in the period in which the
dividends are approved by the bank’s shareholder Interim equity dividends are recognised and deducted from
equity when pad

Pension Arrangements. The bank 1s a sponsor of a defined contnibution pension plan  The contributions payable
for the year are charged to administrative expenses  Differences between contributions payable for the year and
contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments on the balance sheet

Tangible Fixed Assets Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for
impairment  Fixtures, fitings and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives, which 1s between 3 to 7 years  Depreciation 1s included in administrative expenses

f
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the useful economic life of the asset or the remaining
hife of the lease when the asset is brought into use  Depreciation policies are reviewed on an annual basis

Cash at Bank and In Hand Cash at bank and n hand 1s highly liquid overmight deposits held in the ordinary
course of business

Foreign Currencies. The bank’s financial statements are presented in US dollars, which 1s also the bank’s
functional currency

Transactions denomunated 1n forgign currencies are translated into U S dollars at rates of exchange ruling on the
date the transaction occurred  Monetary assets and liabilities denomuinated in foreign currencies are translated into
US dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date Foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised (n trading profit

The results of branches and representative offices with non-U § dollar functional currencies are translated at the
average rates of exchange during the period and their balance sheets at the rates ruling at the balance sheet date
Exchange differences arising from the retranslation of their balance sheet and results are reported in the statements
of changes 1 equuty

Net Investment Hedging., Where net investment hedging 1s employed, all gains and losses on the effective portion
of the hedging instrument, together with any gains and losses on the foreign currency translation of the hedge
investment, are taken directly to the statements of changes in equity  Any gains or losses on the ineffective portion
are recognised immedsately in the profit and loss account The cumulative gains and losses on the hedging
mstrument and gains and losses on the translation of the hedged investment are recogmised in the profit and loss
account only on liquidation of the investment

Financial Assets and Financial Liabihities.
Recogmition and Derecogmition
Non-derivative financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased (1e, cash

mstruments) purchased or sold n regular way transactions are recognised and derecogmised using settlement date
accounting
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
b Accounting Poltcies (continued)

Other financial assets and financial habilities are recogmsed when the bank becomes party to the contractual
provistons of the instrument They are de-recognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire or if the bank transfers the financial asset and substantially all the nisk and rewards of
ownership of that financial asset A financial liability 1s derecognised only when 1t 1s extinguished (1 e , when the
obligation specified in the contract i1s discharged or cancelled or expires)

Classification and Measurement

The bank classifies its financial assets and financial habilities into the below categones  The classification, which
1s determuned at imbial recognition, depends on the purpose for which they were acquired or onigiated

= Fmanaial assets and financial habihties classified as held for trading, Financial assets and financial
liablities classified as held for trading include financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, but
not yet purchased  Financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased nclude
cash instruments and derivative instruments  Both are inutially recognised at fair value with transaction costs
expensed 1n profit or loss  Such financial instruments are carried (n the balance sheet at fair value and all
subsequent gains or losses are recognised in trading profit

The directors are of the opinion that 1t would not be appropnate to classify them as current asset investments
or to provide an analysis of such securities between those histed and unlisted

. Financial assets and financial habilitzes designated at fair value through profit or loss. The bank
designates certain of 1ts other financial assets and financial habilities at farr value through profit or loss
Financial assets and financial habilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are imtially recognised at
fair value with transactron costs expensed in profit or loss  They are measured 1n the balance sheet at fair
value and all subsequent gains or losses are recogmsed 1n trading profit  The primary reasons for designating
such financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

* The group of financial assets, financial hiabilities or both 1s managed and its performance evaluated on a
fair value basis, and

* To eliminate or sigmficantly reduce a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise
from measuring assets or {rabtlities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases

Financial assets and financial liabihities designated at fair value through profit or loss include

* Securities purchased under agreements to resell {resale agreements), other secured lending arrangements
and securtties sold under agreements to repurchase (repurchase agreements),

+ Certain balances related to lending activities included in customer accounts recervable,

» Certain balances related to deposit taking activities included 1n customer accounts payable and deposits by
banks, and

* Certain unsecured debt securities 1ssued, including certain hybrid financial instruments

Hybnd financial instruments are instruments that contain hifurcatable embedded derivatives  If the bank
elects to bifurcate the embedded derivative from the associated debt, the derivauve 1s accounted for a1 fair
value and the host contract 15 accounted for at amortised cost, adjusted for the effective portion of any fair
value hedges If the bank does not elect to afurcate, the entire hybrid financial instrument 1s designated at
fair value through profit or loss
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

b.

Accounting Policies (continued)

These financial assets and financial habilities at fair value are generally valued based on discounted cash flow
techniques, which incorporate inputs with reasonable levels of price transparency, and are generally classified
as level 2 because the 1nputs are observable Valuation adjustments may be made for hiqudity and for
counterparty and GS Group’s credit quality

Loans and receiwvables; and financial habiities measured at amortised cost. Loans and receivables are
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted n an active market
They nclude all cash at bank and 1n hand, certain customer accounts receivable and substantially ail other
assets  Such financial assets are mtially recogrised at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
measured at amoruised cost using the effective interest method (see below) Finance revenue 1s recorded n
tnterest receivable and similar income

Financial habilities measured at amortised cost include certain customer accounts payable, certain other
liabiliies and all long-term subordinated loans from group undertakings Such financial habilines are
imtially recogmsed at fair value plus transactions costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method (see below) Finance costs, including discounts allowed on 1ssue, are recorded n
interest payable and similar charges

The effective interest method 15 a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
hiability (or a group of financial assets or financial habilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period  The effective interest rate 15 the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial hability or, when
approprate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial hability  When
calculating the effective interest rate, the bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial asset or financial liability but does not consider future credit losses  The calculation includes all
fees and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all
other premiums or discounts

The bank assesses its loans and receivables at each balance sheet date for any objective evidence of
mmpairment  If there 1s objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss
1s measured as the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate The amount of the loss 1s
ncluded within trading profit, 1f trading related, or m admimistrative expenses 1f non-trading related

Cilasstfication of Financial Liabiliies and Equity

Fmancial habilities and equity mstruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
A financial Liability 1s any liability that 1s a contractual oblhigation to deliver cash or another financial asset to
another entity, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable to the entity

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial assets and financial habilities are offset and the net amount presented 1n the balance sheet where there 1s

Currently a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amounts, and

Intent to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the hability simultaneously

Where these conditions are not met, financial assets and financial liabiliies are presented on a gross basis on the
balance sheet
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

b Accounting Policies (continued)

Faur Value Measurement

See Note 26 for details regarding the fair value measurement of the bank’s financial assets and financial liabilities
Hedge Accounting

The bank applies fair value hedge accounting for certain interest rate swaps used to manage the interest rate
exposure of certain fixed-rate customer deposits  To qualify for hedge accounting, the derivative hedge must be
highly effective at reducing the nisk from the exposure bemng hedged Additionally, the bank must formally
document the hedging relationship at inception and test the hedging relationship to ensure the derivative hedge
continues to be hughly effective over the hife of the hedging relanonship

Collaterahised Agreements and Collaterahised Financings. Collateralised agreements include resale agreements
and other secured lending arrangements  Collateralised financings include repurchase agreements  See
“Classification and Measurement” above about the classification and measurement of these instruments
Collateral recewved or posted can be in the form of cash or securines  Cash collateral 1s recogmised/derecognised
when received/paid  Collateral posted by the bank in the form of securities i1s not derecognised from the balance
sheet, whilst collateral received in the form of securities 15 not recogmised on the balance sheet If collateral
recerved 1s subsequently sold, the obligation to return the collateral and the cash recerved are recognised on balance
sheet

Current and Deferred Taxation. The tax expense for the pertod comprises current and deferred taxation  Tax 1s
recognised (n the profit and loss account

Current tax 15 calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the
countries where the bank operates and generates taxable income  Deferred tax 1s recogmised i respect of all
temporary differences that have onginated, but not reversed at the balance sheet date, where transactions or events
have occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay more tax or a right to pay less tax in the future with
the following exceptions

. Deferred tax assets are recogrused only to the extent that the directors consider that it 1s more likely than not
that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying temporary
differences can be deducted

. Deferred tax 15 measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply mn the periods in
which temporary differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets Provisions are recogmsed 1n the financial statements
when it 1s probable that an outflow of econormuc benefits will be required to settle a present (legal or constructive)
obligation, which has arisen as a result of past events, and for which a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation  Legal obligations that may arise as a result of proposed new laws are recognised as obligations
only when the legislation s virtually certain to be enacted as drafted

A contingent hability 1s a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of
the bank or a present obligation that arises from past events but i1s not recognised because either an outflow of
econemic benefits 1s not probable or the amount of the obligation cannot be reliably measured A contingent asset
15 a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the bank  Contingent
assets are not recogmsed in the financial statements However, disclosure 1s made unless the probability of
settlement 15 remote
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts recognised 1n these financial statements  The nature of estimation means that actual outcomes
could differ from those estumates The fotlowing judgements have had the most sigruficant effect on amounts
recognised in the financial statements

Deferred Tax

The bank has recognised a deferred tax asset (see Note 19) which requires judgement for deterniming the extent of
its recoverability at each reporting date  The bank assesses recoverability with reference to forecasts of future
taxable profits  These forecasts require the use of assumptions and estimates ~ Where the temporary differences
are related to losses, relevant tax law 15 constdered to determine the availability of the losses to offset against the
future taxable profits

Fair Value Measurement

Certain of the bank’s financial assets and financial habihties include significant unobservable mputs (1 e, level 3)
See Note 26 for mformation about the carrying value, valvation techmques and significant inputs of these
mstruments

Provision for Impairment of Bank Loans Held at Amortised Cost

The provision for impairment of bank loans held at amortised cost {see Note 21) 1s determined using various inputs,
including industry default and loss data, current macroeconomic indicators, borrower’s capacity to meet 1ts financial
obligations, borrower’s country of risk, loan seniority, and collateral type Management’s estimate of losses
entails judgements about loan collectability based on information at the reporting dates, and there are uncertainties
tnherent in those judgements

FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF FRS 101
As set out in Note 2, these financial statements are for the first full annual period covered by FRS 101

The accounting policies set out ain Note 2 have been used in the preparation of all periods in these financial
statements

The following describes the impact to the bank’s financial statements as a result of adopting FRS 101 and
consequential changes to accounting policies

Reconcihation of Equity

The table below presents a companison of the bank’s balance sheet under the previous U K GAAP and FRS 101 as
of January 1, 2014 (the bank’s opening balance sheet) and December 2014 See “FRS 101 Reconcihiation Notes”
below for an explanation of each transition adjustment

30




GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL BANK
(unhmited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — DECEMBER 2015

4 FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF FRS 101 (continued)

ASSETS

Cash at bank and n hand
Customer accounts recervable

Financial instruments owned
Collateralised agreements with
group undertakings

Tangible fixed assets
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS

Customer accounts payable

Deposits by banks

Financial instruments sold, but not
yet purchased

Collateralised financings with
group undertakings

Other habilities

Long-term subordinated loans
from group undertakings

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Called up share capital
Share premium account
Cumulative translation reserve

Profit and loss account

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER’S
FUNDS

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS

MEMORANDUM ITEMS

Commitments

Contingent liabilities

Note

As of January 1, 2014 As of December 31, 2014
Previous Previous
U.K. Adjustments U.K. Adjustments
GAAP on transition FRS 101 GAAP on transition FRS 101
$°000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000 $°000
128,308 - 123,808 115,519 - 115,919
5,302,257 (2,641,811) 2,660,446 3,309,526 (1,495,714) 1,813,812
16,249,215 308,724 16,557,939 17,192,602 (842,926) 16,349,676
25,929,110 (225,985) 25,703,125 22,709,036 (11,324) 22,697,712
641 - 641 727 - 727
17,464 65,487 82,951 742,004 64,775 806,779
47,627,495 (2,493,585) 45,133,910 44,069,814 (2,285,189) 41,784,625
11,903,565 (2,293,617) 9,609,948 13,851,605 (2,369,226) 11,482,379
2,528,745 - 2,528,745 3,292,680 - 3,292,680
16,368,273 (39,585) 16,328,688 12,974,774 30,586 13,005,360
11,926,181 (225,985) 11,700,196 8,976,919 (11,324) 8,965,595
1,479,234 115 1,479,349 1,544,823 - 1,544,823
826,182 - 826,182 826,182 - 826,182
45,032,180 (2,559,072) 42,473,108 41,466,983 (2,349964) 39,117,019
62,558 - 62,558 62,558 - 62,558
2,094,303 - 2,094303 2,094,303 - 2,094,303
(15,149) - (15,149) (19,577) - (19,577)
453,603 65,487 519,090 465,547 64,775 530,322
2,595,315 65,487 2,660,802 2,602,831 64,775 2,667,606
47,627,495 (2,493,585) 45,133,910 44,069,814 (2,285,189) 41,784,625
1,634,053 1,218 1,635,271 4,680,615 680 4,681,295
1,898,801 - 1,898,801 2,415,156 - 2,415,156
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FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF FRS 101 (continued)

Reconciiation of Total Comprehensive Income

The bank’s tax on profit on ordinary activities increased by $712,000 for 2014 as a result of adopting FRS 101
This resutted 1n profit for the financial year and total comprehensive income for the financial year decreasing by
$712,000 for 2014  See Note C for further details

FRS 101 Reconciliation Notes

A, Change From Trade Date to Settlement Date Accounting. Following a detailed review of its accounting
policies on transitton to FRS 101, the bank has changed its accounting policy for regular-way purchases and sales of
held for trading non-derivative financial instruments from trade date to settlement date accounting  Under the
previous UK GAAP and financial statements prepared for interim periods 1n 20135, regular-way purchases and
sales of held for trading non-derivative financial instruments were recorded on a trade date basis

The bank beheves that recogmsing and derecogmsing held for trading non-derivative financial instruments on
settlement date results in a more relevant and rehiable presentation of 1ts financial position  [n particular

+ It eliminates the recognition of unsettled recervable and payable balances This results in a more appropnate
representation of the settlement nsk inherent in these balances which 1s minimal due to the delivery vs
payment settlement mechanics, which substantially eliminate credit nisk for the majority of regular-way trades,
and

= This 1s more consistent with the way these balances are viewed by management and results 1n more similar
balance sheet presentation to the GS Group’s U S GAAP financial statements for significant subsidiaries

The change 10 accounting policy to recognise and derecognise these financial instruments on a settlement date basis
did not change the amount or tuming of gams and losses recogmsed n the profit or loss account for these
instruments because movements in fawr value are sl recorded between the trade date and settlement date  The
impact of this change 1s

*  As of January 1, 2014, financial instruments owned and other ltabilities increased by $309 million and
3115000, respectively  Customer accounts receivable, customer accounts payable and financial instruments
sold, but not yet purchased decreased by $2 64 billion, $2 29 billion and $40 million, respectively

. As of December 31, 2014, financial nstruments sold, but not yet purchased increased by $31 mllion
Customer accounts receivable, financial struments owned and customer accounts payable decreased by
$1 50 billion, $843 mullion and $2 37 bullion, respectively

B. Adoption of TAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’, The bank has adopted IAS 32 ‘Financial
Instruments  Presentation’ (IAS 32), which includes ‘Offseting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
(Amendments to [AS 32)  This amendment included additional guidance not brought into the previous UK
GAAP, which clanfies the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable nght of set-off” and that some gross
settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement This resulted in the bank offsetting
collateralised agreements with collateralised financings under FRS 101, which were previously presented as gross
under the previous UK GAAP  The impact of this change 15

. As of January 1, 2014, collateralised agreements and collateralised financings decreased by $226 million

+  AsofDecember 31, 2014, collateralised agreements and collateralised financings decreased by $11 mullion
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FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF FRS 101 (continued)

C. Adoption of IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’. Under IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’, subject to certan exceptions, the bank (s
required to recogmise a deferred tax asset in relation to all deductible temporary differences to the extent that 1t 15
probable that future taxable profit will be available to utilise the difference  The bank has recognised a deferred
tax asset for unused tax losses as set out below

= AsofJanuary 1, 2014, other assets and retained earnings increased by $65 milhon

. As of December 31, 2014, other assets and retained earnings increased by $65 million

. Tax on profit on ordinary activities increased by $712,000 for 2014

D. Adoption of IAS 17 ‘Leases’. Commitments increased by $1 million and $680,000 as of January 1, 2014 and
December 2014, respectively, due 10 the adoption of 1AS 17 ‘Leases” Under the previous UK GAAP, only the
rentals the bank was committed to pay in the following year in respect of its operaung leases were disclosed

These were categorised by the matunty date of the lease  Upon adoption of 1AS 17 ‘Leases’, the bank s now
required to disclose the total future mimimum lease payments payable by year mstead

Disclosures

The adoption of FRS 101 resulted 1n the bank revising certain disclosures in the notes to the financial statements
These include

. Level 3 Financial Assets and Financial Liabihities. The bank has adopted IFRS [3 ‘Fair Value
Measurement’, which impacts the classification of s level 3 financial assets and financial habiliies  The
bank now classifies certain financial assets and financial liabilities as level 2 (as opposed to level 3) in the fair
value hierarchy 1f the bank has no significant net risk to the level 3 inputs  The impact of this change 15

= As of January 1, 2014, level 3 financial assets and financial hiabihittes decreased by $92 mullion, with a
corresponding increase n level 2

* As of December 31, 2014, level 3 financial assets and financial habilities decreased by $128 mullwon, with
a corresponding increase in level 2

»  Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activitres. Under the previous U K GAAP, a reconciliation between current tax
and the product of profit before taxation multiplied by the applicable tax rate was required  Upon adoption of
IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ the bank 15 now required to present a reconciliation between the total tax expense and
the product of profit before taxation multiplied by the applicable tax rate

In addition, FRS 101 has resulted in the bank providing additional disclosures relating to financial assets and
financial hiabiliies due to the adeption of IFRS 7 ‘Financial [nstruments Disclosures’ and IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value
Measurement’
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SEGMENT REPORTING

The table below categorises the bank’s total operating tncome into business segments

Year Ended Year Ended

December 2015 December 2014

$°000 5000

Investment Banking 1,712 7,186
Institutional Chient Services 259,770 75,272
Investing & Lending 6,122 3,175
Investment Management 6,753 2,257
280,357 87,890

The bank reports its business segments 1n line with that of GS Group

[nvestment Banking, Comprises underwriting and origination of debt instruments including European government
bonds and bank loans

Institutional Chient Services Compnises client execution activities, market making in European government
bonds, interest rate products and currencies, secondary dealing in bank loans and securities lending

Investing & Lending. Comprises invesiment activities across vanous asset classes, primanly bank loans, which are
typrcally longer-term n nature

Investment Management. Comprises lending and deposit taking activities with high-net-worth individuals
Substantially all of the bank’s admimistrative expenses and assets are attributable to Institutional Chent Services
The bank operates in two geographically distinct regions, EMEA, the location of the head office, the Frankfurt
branch and the Istanbul rep office, and Asta, the location of the Seoul branch and the Beying rep office  The table

below categonises the bank’s total operating income into geographic segments  Geographic results have been
allocated between EMEA and Asia based on the location of the business

Year Ended Year Ended

December 2015 December 2014

$'000 $'000

EMEA 252,043 75,821
Asia 28,314 12,069
280,357 37,890

The Seoul branch had total assets of $3 52 billion (¥4,130 29 billion} and $4 94 billion (%5,409 31 billion) as of
December 2015 and December 2014, respectively

The Frankfurt branch had total assets of $100 million (€92 million) and $ml (€ml) as of December 2015 and
December 2014, respectively
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TRADING PROFIT

Trading profit includes trading interest income of $171 million and $249 million for 2015 and 2014, respectively,
and trading interest expense of $146 million and $234 miihion for 2015 and 2014, respectively

Trading interest income and expense represents coupon interest arising on European government bonds, interest on
bank loans classified as held for trading, and interest on collaterahised agreements and collateralised financings

assoctated with the bank’s European government bond market-making business

INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

Year Ended Year Ended
December 2015 December 2014
$°000 5’000
Interest on loans to banks and customers 23,101 3,979
Interest on collateralised agreements with group undertakings 73,321 65,144
Interest on loans to group undertakings 18,158 8,830
114,580 77,953
INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

Year Ended Year Ended
December 2015 December 2014
$°000 5’6000
Interest on loans from banks and customers 50,142 40,614

Interest on long-term subordinated loans from group undertakings (see
Note 22) 26,211 24,226
Interest on loans from group undertakings 14,598 23,538
90,951 88,378

[ncluded 1n interest on loans from banks and customers 1s interest on customer deposits and deposits by banks
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9. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Year Ended Year Ended
December 2015 December 2014
$°000 $000
Management fees charged by group undertakings (see Note a) 70,978 56,721
Direct costs of employment (see Notes b and 11) 8,635 7,243
Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees 6,945 5,144
Market development 301 776
Communications and technology 498 632
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (see Note 17) 165 190
Occupancy 963 764
Professional fees (see Note c) 1,706 1,310
Other expenses 2,632 2,806
92,823 75,636
a. Management fees charged by group undertakings relate to operational and admumstrative support, and
management services received from group undertakings
b.  Duirect costs of employment are 1n relation to the Seoul branch and representative offices
¢ Professional fees include fees payable to the bank’s auditor for the audit of the bank’s annual financial
statements of $369,000 and $290,000 for 2015 and 2014, respectively
10 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The table below presents the bank’s directors’ emoluments

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — DECEMBER 2015

Year Ended Year Ended
December 2015 December 2014
$°000 5000
Aggregate emoluments 772 662
Company pension contributions to money purchase schemes 2 2
774 664
The table below presents emoluments for the highest paid director
Year Ended Year Ended
December 2015 December 2014
$'000 $'000
Aggregate emoluments 372 238

Company pension contributions to money purchase schemes

1

In accordance with the Compantes Act 2006, directors’ emoluments above represent the proportion of total
emoluments paid or payable in respect of quahfying services only  This total only includes the value of cash and
benefits in kind, and does not include the value of equity awards in accordance with the provisions of Schedule 5 of
Si 2008/410 Durectors also receive emoluments for non-qualifying services which are not required to be
disclosed
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DIRECTORS® EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Six directors are members of a defined contribution pension plan and four directors are members of a defined
benefit pension plan  Six directors, including the highest paid director, have been granted Group Inc shares n
respect of long term incentive schemes during the year  Three directors, including the highest paid director, have
exercised options duning the year

STAFF COSTS

All persons involved n the bank’s operations, other than the Seoul branch and representative offices, are employed
by group undertakings The charges made by these group undertakings, including share-based payments, for all
the services provided (personnel and other) to the bank are included in the management fees charged by group
undertakings (see Note 9)

The table below presents the Seoul branch and representative offices’ average number of employees

Year Ended Year Ended
December 2015 December 2014
Average Number Average Number

Employees
Investment Banking 2 -
[nstitutional Chient Services 6 8
Support Functions 23 25
31 33
Total headcount was 31 and 32 as of December 2015 and December 2014, respectively
The table below presents employment costs incurred by the bank
Year Ended Year Ended
December 2015 December 2014
$'000 $°000
Aggregate gross wages and salaries 7,740 6,385
Employer's National Insurance Contributions 394 335
Pension costs, employer contributions to defined contribution plan 501 523
8,635 7,243

Dhrect costs of employment include a charge of $155,000 and $81,000 for 2015 and 2014, respectively, relating to
the mark-to-market of share-based compensation
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Stock Incentive Plan

Group In¢ sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan
(2015) (2015 SIP), which provides for, amongst others, grants of RSUs and mcentive stock options

The Seoul branch and representative offices recorded share-based compensation in respect of the amortisation of
granted equity awards, net of forfeitures, of $859,000 and $229,000 for 2015 and 2014, respecuvely The
corresponding credit to equity has been transferred to liabilities as a result of the terms of the chargeback agreement
with Group Inc under which the bank 15 committed to pay to Group Inc the grant-date fair value as well as
subsequent movements 1n fair value of those awards to Group Inc at the time of delivery to its employees

Restricted Stock Units

Group Inc grants RSUs to the Seoul branch and representative offices” employees under the 2015 SIP, which are
valued based on the closing price of the underlying shares on the date of grant after taking into account a liquidity
discount for any applicable post-vesting and delivery transfer restrictions RSUs generally vest and underlying
shares of common stock deliver as outlined in the applicable RSU agreements Employee RSU agreements
generally provide that vesting 1s accelerated n certain circumstances, such as on retirement, death, disability and
conflicted employment Delivery of the underlying shares of common stock 15 conditioned on the grantees
satisfying certain vesting and other requirements outlined 1n the award agreements

TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

The table below presents the bank’s analysis of tax on profit on ordinary acuvities

Year Ended Year Ended
December 2015 December 2014
$°000 $°000
Current tax
U K corporation tax 33,953 1,378
Adjustments 1n respect of prior perieds 944 (1,968)
Overseas taxation 176 1,094
Total current tax 35,073 504
Deferred tax
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences 4,462 518
Effect of change 1n U K corporate tax rates 4,591 -
Total deferred tax 9.053 518
‘Total tax on profit on erdinary activities 44,126 1,022

The Finance (No 2) Act 2015 was enacted 1n the fourth quarter of 2015, which introduced (1) an 8 percentage point
surcharge on banking profits effective in 2016, (11) a | percentage point reduciion 1n corporate tax rates effective in
2017, and () a further 1 percentage point reduction in corporate tax rates effective in 2020

The future reductions in corporate tax described in (1) and (i) above resulted in the bank recogmsing a one-tume
charge of $5 mullion relating to the revaluation of uts deferred tax asset The bank will incur the surcharge
described in (1) on all future profits including those against which it 1s able to utilise its unused tax losses
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13 TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES (continued)

The table below presents a reconciliation between tax on profit on ordinary activities and the amount calculated by
applying the weighted average rate of U K corporation tax applicable to the bank for the year of 20 25% (2014
21 5%) to the profit on ordinary activities before taxation

Year Ended Year Ended

December 2015 December 2014

$°000 $7000

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 187,534 12,254
Prefit on ordinary activities multiphed by U K corporate tax rate of

2025% (2014 21 5%) 37,976 2,635

Changes 1n recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets 440 255

Permanent differences 35 94

Exchange differences and other 140 6

Adjustments 1n respect of prior periods 944 (1,968)

Effect of change in U K corporate tax rates 4,591 -

Total tax on profit on ordinary activities 44,126 1,022

14. CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

December 2015 December 2014

$°000 §°000

Bank loans 1,866,017 428,724
Amounts due from customers 317,269 284,301
Amounts due from group undertakings 565,104 1,100,787
2,748,390 1,813,812

The following table presents the contractual maturity of customer accounts receivable

December 2015 December 2014

$'000 5’000

Less than three months 882,373 1,385,088
More than three months but less than one year 557,946 -
More than one year but less than five years 266,648 132,746
Greater than five years 1,041,423 295,978
2,748,390 1,813,812
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS OWNED AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SOLD, BUT NOT YET
PURCHASED

Financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased comprise financial instruments
and investments within the operating activities of the bank  Fmancial instruments owned includes financial
mstruments owned pledged as collateral  These represent financial instruments owned and pledged to
counterparties that have the right to deliver or repledge  See Note 26 for further information

The table below presents the bank’s financial istruments owned

December 2015 December 2014

5’000 5’000
Cash instruments

Government bonds 7,664,493 7.670,661
Bank loans 70,065 204,629
7,734,558 7,875,290

Dervative instruments
Interest rates 3,821,704 7,914,260
Currencies 639,287 506,767
Equities 18,840 53,359
Credit 2,178 -
4,482,009 8,474,386
12,216,567 16,349,676

The table below presents the bank’s financial instiuments sold, but not yet purchascd

December 2015 December 2014

$'000 5000
Cash instruments
Government bonds 4,437,463 4,460,192
Bank loans 2,031 8,180
4,439,494 4,468,372
Denvative instruments
Interest rates 3,684,514 7,848,926
Currencies 672,655 634,703
Equities 18,840 53,359
Credit 7.475 -
4,383,484 8,536,988
8,822,978 13,005,360
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16. COLLATERALISED AGREEMENTS WITH GROUP UNDERTAKINGS

December 2015 December 2014
$000 $°000
Resale agreements 24,818,466 22,551,467
Other secured lending arrangements - 146,245
24,818,466 22,697,712
17.  TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Leaseheld  Fixtures, fittings
Improvements & equipment Total
$°000 5000 $°000
Cost
As of January | 1,506 2,438 3,944
Additions 219 101 320
Disposals - (191} (181)
Translation loss (98) (14%) (247)
As of December 31 1,627 2,199 3,826
Accumulated depreciation
As of January 1 865 2,252 3,217
Charge for the year (sec Note 9) 77 38 165
Disposals - (159) (159)
Translation gamn {64) (128) (192)
As of December 31 978 2,053 3,031
Net book value
As of December 2015 649 146 795
As of December 2014 541 186 727
18. OTHER ASSETS
December 2015 December 2014
$°000 $°000
Other amounts due from group undertakings 789,261 729,903
Deferred tax (see Note 19) 36,271 65,282
Other assets 13,732 11,594
859,264 806,779

Other assets includes financial assets of $798 mullion and $736 million as of December 2015 and December 2014,
respectively, and non-financial assets of $61 million and $71 mullion as of December 2015 and December 2014,

respectively
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DEFERRED TAM

The table below presents the components of the bank’s deferred tax asset

December 2015 December 2014
$°000 5’000
Unused tax losses 55,977 64,775
Other timing differences 294 507
56,271 65,282
Other timing differences are mainly in respect of share-based compensation
The table below presents changes in each component of the bank’s deferred tax asset
December 2015 December 2014
$°000 $'000
Unused tax losses
As of January 1 64,775 65,487
Transfer to the profit and loss account (8,798) (712)
As of December 31 55,977 64,775
Other tmimg differences
As of January 1 507 329
Transfer to the profit and loss account (255) 194
Translation gain/{loss) 42 (16)
As of December 31 294 507
Total
As of January 1 65,282 65,816
Transfer to the profit and loss account (see Note 13) (9,053) (518)
Translation gain/(loss) 42 (16)
As of December 31 56,271 65,282

The deferred tax asset 15 recogmsed on the basis of estumated future taxable profits over the bank’s planming
horizen Having considered the expected performance of the business, the directors are of the opinion that these

20.

projections support the recogmitton of the deferred tax asset

CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

December 2015 December 2014

$°000 3’000

Customer deposits 13,492,360 9,497,616
Amounts due to customers 322,026 169,869
Deposits from group undertakings 1,387,190 1,168,272
Amounts due to group undertakings 313,831 646,622
15,515,407 11,482,379
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OTHER LIABILITIES
December 2015 December 2014
$°000 $000
Accruals and deferred income 21,857 7,360
Other amounts due to group undertakings (see Note a) 1,380,087 1,531,299
Other habihities (see Note b) 14,502 6,164
1,416,446 1,544,823

a.  Other amounts due to group undertakings includes group relief payable of $5 million and $27 million as of
December 2015 and December 2014, respectively

b.  Other liabilities includes a provision for impairment 1n respect of unfunded bank loans held at amortised cost
of $6 mullion and 32 million as of December 2015 and December 2014, respectively

Other habilities includes financial habilities of $1 40 bitlton and $1 54 billion as of December 2015 and December
2014, respectively, and non-financial liabilittes of $16 million and $4 million as of December 2015 and December
2014, respectively

LONG-TERM SUBORDINATED LOANS FROM GROUP UNDERTAKINGS

During 2015, the bank’s long-term subordinated loans from Group Inc of $826 mullion were repaid and an $826
million long-term subordinated loan was provided by GSGUK  This long-term subordinated loan 1s unsecured and
carries nterest at a margin over the U S Federal Reserve's federal funds rate and constitutes regulatory capital as
approved by the PRA  Repayment 1s subject to PRA approval and can be made no earlier than September 2020
following notice to GSGUK

SHARE CAPITAL

The table below presents the bank’s share capital

December 2015 December 2014
No $°000 No. $°000
Allotted, called up and fully pad
Ordinary shares of £1 each 40,169,994 62,558 40,169,994 62,558
62,558 62,558
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FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments
December 2015 December 2014
5000 $’000
Principal risk 3,957,873 1,675,008
Sub-participated 822,157 1,256,145
Unfunded bank loans (see Note a) 4,780,030 2,931,153
Forward starting resale agreements (see Note b) 65,000 1,748,857
Leases (see Note ¢) 1,074 1,285
4,846,104 4,681,295

The bank originates a number of bank loans which are held as principal sk The bank also holds bank loans
which are sub-participated to group undertakings and thurd party institutions  The unfunded portion of these
agreements, where cash has not been deposited with the bank to collateralise the undrawn commitment 1s
presented above

The bank enters into resale agreements that settle at a future date, generally within three business days  The
bank’s funding of these commitments depends on the satisfaction of all contractual conditions to the resale
agreement and these commitments can expire unused

The bank leases certain builldings under long-term lease agreements  Under these lease agreements, which
are subject to renegotiation at various intervals specified n the leases, the bank pays all insurance,
maintenance and repairs of these properties  The table below presents future minimum rental payments

December 2015 December 2014

$°000 $°000
Less than one year 524 475
Between one and five years 550 810
1,074 1,285

Contingent Liabilities

December 2015 December 2014

$’000 5000

Securities lending indemmifications (see Note a) 1,215,544 2,404,898
Other - 10,258
1,215,544 2,415,156

The bank, 1n 1ts capacity as an agent in secunittes lending, indemmifies most of 1ts securities lending customers
against losses incurred 1n the event that borrowers do not return securites  The maximum exposure to loss
under guarantees was $1 22 billion and $2 40 billion as of December 2015 and December 2014, respectively
The market value of the collateral held to cover the loss was $1 36 billion and $2 65 billion as of December
2015 and December 2014, respectively These guarantees are covered by back-to-back guarantees with the
bank’s ulumate parent company, Group Inc
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

a  Capital Management

Overview

The bank determines the appropriate level and composition of 1ts equity capital by considenng multiple factors
including the bank’s current and future regulatory capital requirements, the results of the bank’s capital planning

and stress testing process and other factors such as rating agency guidelines, the business environment and
conditions in the financial markets

Regulatory Capital

December 2015 December 2014

$°000 $'000
Called up share capital 62,558 62,558
Share premium account 2,094,303 2,094,303
Retained earnings 651,846 510,745
Total shareholder’s funds 2,808,707 2,667,606
Deductions to tier | (154,771) (143,953)
Common equity tier | 2,653,936 2,523,653
Ther 2 capital (long-term subordinated loans from group undertakings) 826,000 826,182
Deductions to tier 2 (150,000) {115,000}
Total capital resources (net of deductions) 3,329,936 3,234,835

During 2015 and 2014, the bank was in comphance with the capital requirements set by the PRA
b Ligmdity Risk Management
Overview

Liquidity nisk 1s the resk that the bank will be unable to fund itself or meet its hquidity needs in the event of
bank-specific, broader industry, or market hquidity stress events  Liquidity 1s of ¢ritical importance to the bank, as
most of the fatlures of financial institutions have occurred in large part due to insufficient hquidity  Accordingly,
the bank has 1n place a comprehensive and conservative set of hquidity and funding policies  The principal
objective 1s to be able to fund the bank and te enable the core businesses to continue to serve clients and generate
revenues, even under adverse circumstances

Treasury has the primary responsibility for assessing, momtoring and managing liquidity and funding strategy
Treasury 1s independent of the revenue-producing units and reports to GS Group’s chief financial officer

GS Group’s Liquidity Risk Management and Analysis (Liquidity Risk Management) function 1s an independent risk
management function responsible for contro! and oversight of GS Group’s hquidity nsk management framework,
including stress testng and limit governance Liquidity Risk Management 1s independent of the
revenue-producing units and Treasury, and reports to GS Group's chuef risk officer

Liguidity Risk Management Principles

The bank manages liquidity nisk according to three principles (1) hold sufficient excess hquidity in the form of
Global Core Liquid Assets (GCLA) to cover outflows duning a stressed pertod, (17) mawntain appropriate
Asset-Liability Management and (1n) maintain a viable Contingency Funding Plan
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
b. Liqudity Risk Management (continued)

Global Core Ligund Assets. GCLA 15 hquidity that the bank maintains to meet a broad range of potential cash
outflows and collateral needs in a stressed environment

Asset-Liabahty Management. The bank’s hqudity risk management policies are designed to ensure 1t has a
sufficient amount of financing, even when funding markets experience persistent stress The bank manages
maturities and diversity of funding across markets, products and counterparties, and seeks to mawntain a long-dated
and duiversified external funding profile, taking tnto consideration the charactenistics and hqudity profile of its
assets

Contingency Funding Plan. GS Group maintams a contingency funding plan, which has a specific Goldman Sachs
International Bank addendum, to provide a framework for analysing and responding to a hquidity crisis situation or
pericds of market stress The contingency funding plan outlines a hst of potential risk factors, key reports and
metrics that are reviewed on an ongoing basis to assist in assessing the seventy of, and managing through, a
liquidity cnisis and/or market dislocation The contingency funding plan also describes the bank’s potential
responses If assesstnents indicate that the bank has entered a hquidity cnisis, which includes pre-funding for what
the bank estimates will be 1ts potential cash and collateral needs as well as utihising secondary sources of hquidity
Mitigants and action items to address specific risks which may anse are also described and assigned to individuals
responsible for execution

Laguidity Coverage Ratio

The ligquidity coverage ratio (LCR) ts designed to ensure that the entity mantains an adequate level of
unencumbered high-quality hiquid assets based on expected net cash outflows under an acute short-term liquidity
stress scenano  The LCR rule issued by the PRA became effective on October 1, 2015, with a phase-in period
whereby certamn financial institutions, including the bank, must have an 80% mimimum ratio inttially, increasing to
G0% on January 1, 2017 and 100% on January 1, 2018

¢.  Market Risk Management
Overview

Market risk 15 the risk of loss in the value of the bank’s financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold,
but not yet purchased (1e, inventory), as well as certain other financial assets and financial liabiliies, due to
changes in market conditions The bank employs a vanety of risk measures, each described n the respective
sections below, to monitor market nsk  The bank holds inventory primarily for market-making for chents The
bank’s inventory therefore changes based on client demands  The bank’s thventory 1s accounted for at fair value
and therefore fluctuates on a daily basis, with the related gains and losses included in trading profit  Categornies of
market nsk include the following

*  Interest rate nsk resuits from exposures to changes in the level, slope and curvature of yield curves, the
volatilities of interest rates and credit spreads,

. Equity price nisk results from exposures to changes in prices and volatilities of individual equities, baskets of
equittes and equity indices, and

*  Currency rate nsk results from exposures to changes in spot prices, forward prices and volatilittes of currency
rates

Managers 1n revenue-producing umits are accountable for managing risk within prescnbed himits, both at the GS
Group and bank level These managers have in-depth knowledge of their positions, markets and the instruments
available to hedge their exposures
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

c. Market Risk Management (continued)

Marhet Risk Management and Analysis (Market Risk Management), which 1s independent of the
revenue-producing umts and reports to the GS Group chief nisk officer, has primary responsibility for assessing,
monttoring and managing market nsk  Rishs are momtored and controlled through strong oversight and

independent controt and support finctions across the global businesses

Managers 1n revenue-producing umis and Market Risk Management discuss market information, positions and
estimated risk and loss scenarios on an ongoing basis

Market Risk Management Process

The bank manages market risk by diversifying exposures, controlling position sizes and establishing economic
hedges in related securities or derivatives  This process includes

¢ Accurate and timely exposure information icorporating multiple nsk metrics,
. A dynamic limit setting framework, and
. Constant communicatton among revenue-producing units, risk managers and senior management

The bank’s framework for managing market risk 1s consistent with, and part of, the GS Group framework, and
results are analysed by business and 1n aggregate, at both the GS Group and bank level

Value-at-Risk. VaR 15 the potential loss in value due to adverse market movements over a defined tuime horizon
with a specified confidence level A one-day time horizon with a 95% confidence level 1s typically employed
The VaR model 15 a single model that captures risks including interest rates, equity piices and curtency tates  As

such, VaR facilitates comparison across portfolios of different risk characteristics  VaR also captures the
dwversification of aggregated risk across the bank

Metrics
The table below presents average daily VaR, period-end VaR, and high and low VaR

December 2015 December 2014

$’million $’million
Average daily VaR for the year ended 32 20
Period-end VaR 22 16
Highest daily VaR for the year ended 135 81
Lowest daily VaR for the year ended 12 08

d  Credit Risk Management
Overview

Credit nisk represenis the potential for loss due to the default or deterioration 1n credit quality of a counterparty
(e g, an OTC denvatives counterparty or a borrower) or an 1ssuer of securities or other instruments the bank holds
The bank’s exposure to credit sk comes mostly from lending activities and client transactions 1n OTC denvatives
Credit nsk also comes from cash placed with banks, securities financing transactions (1 e, resale and repurchase
agreements) and customer accounts receivable
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
d. Credit Risk Management (continued)

Credit Risk Management and Advisory (Credit Risk Management), which 1s independent of the revenue-producing
units and reports to GS Group’s chief nisk officer, has primary responsibility for assessing, momtoring and
managing credit nsk  The bank’s framework for managing credit nisk ts consistent with the framework of GS
Group  GS Group’s Credit Pohicy Committee and Firmwide Risk Committee establish and review credu policies
and parameters for GS Group as a whole  In addition, the bank holds other positions that give nise to credit nsk,
(e g, bonds held m inventory)  These credit risks are captured as a component of market risk measures, which are
monitored and managed by Market Risk Management, consistent with other inventory positions  The bank also
enters mnto derivatives to manage market nsk exposures  Such derivatives also give nise to credit nsk which 1s
monitored and managed by Credit Risk Management

Credit Risk Management Process

Effective management of credit rsk requires accurate and tumely information, a high level of communication and
knowledge of customers, countries, industries and products  The process for managing credit nisk includes

*  Approving transactions and setting and communicating credit exposure hinuts,

. Monitoring complhance with established credit exposure hinuts,

. Assessing the likelihood that a counterparty will default on its payment obligations,

. Measurning the bank’s cucrent and potential credit exposure and losses resulting from counterparty default,
. Reporting of credit exposures to senior management, the bank’s board of directors and regulators,

*  Use of credit nsk mihgants, including collateral and hedging, and

. Communication and collaboration with other independent control and support functions such as operations,
legal and comphance

As part of the nisk assessment process, Credit Risk Management performs credit reviews which include imitial and
ongomng analyses of the bank’s counterparties  For substantially all of the bank’s credit exposures, the core of the
process 1s an annual counterparty credit review A credut review 1s an independent analysis of the capacity and
willingness of a counterparty to meet 1ts financial obligations, resulting in an nternal credit rating The
determination of internal credit ratings also incorporates assumptions with respect to the nature of and outlook for
the counterparty’s industry, and the economic environment  Senior personnel within Credit Risk Management,
with expertise in specific industries, inspect and approve credit reviews and internal credit ratings

The global credit nsk management systems capture credit exposure to individual counterparties and on an aggregate
basis to counterparties and their subsidiaries (economic groups) These systems also provide management with
comprehensive information on aggregate credit nsk by product, internal credst rating, industry, country and region

Credit Exposures
The bank’s credit exposures are described further below
Cash at Bank and in Hand Cash at bank and in hand include both interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing

deposits  To mutigate the risk of credit loss, the bank places substantially all of its deposits with lughly-rated banks
and central banks
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
d. Credit Risk Management (continued}

Customer Accounts Recervable The bank 1s exposed to credit nisk from 1ts customer accounts receivable through
tts amounts due from customers, bank loans and amounts due from group undertakings  The bank manages its
lending activities using the process described above, including participation agreements with affiliates

Financial Instruments Owned. Fetnancial nstruments owned includes cash instruments and dervatives The
bank’s credit exposure on derivatives arises primanly from market-making activiies  As a market maker, the
bank enters into dervative transactions to provide hquidity to chients and to facilitate the transfer and hedgig of
their nsks The bank also enters into derivatives to manage market risk exposures In the table below cash
instruments are included 1n the gross exposure, however, to the extent that they have been captured by market risk
they are removed to arrive at net credit exposure  Derivatives are reported at fair value on a gross by counterparty
basis 1n the bank’s financial statements unless 1t has current legal right of set-off and also ntends to settle on a net
basis  OTC derivatives are nsk managed using the risk processes, measures and linuts described above

Collateralised Agreements With Group Undertakings. The bank bears credit nisk related to collateralised
agreements only to the extent that cash advanced to the counterparty exceeds the value of the collateral received
The bank’s credit exposure on these transactions 1s therefore significantly lower than the amounts recorded on the
balance sheet, which represent fair values or contractual value before consideration of collateral received The
bank also has credit exposure on collateralised financings, which are liabihties on 1ts balance sheet, to the extent
that the value of collateral pledged to the counterparty for these transactions exceeds the amount of cash or
collateral received

The tables below present the banh’s gross credit exposure to financial assets and net credit exposure afier taking
account of assets captured by market risk 1n the bank’s risk management process, counterparty netting (1 e, the
netting of financial assets and financial liabilities for a given counterparty when a legal right of set-off exists under
an enforceable netting agreement), and cash and security collateral recerved and cash collateral posted under credit
support agreements, which management considers when determining credit nsk  This 1s presented by financial
asset class and by credit rating equivalent (internatly determined public rating agency equivalents)

[n the tables below, cash collateral 1s shghtly higher than the amounts disclosed in Note 27 to the financial
statemenis as the below disclosure includes additional cash collateral that management considers when determuning
credit risk

As of December 2015
Assets
captured Security
Gross by market Counterparty Cash collateral  Net credit
exposure risk netting collateral received exposure
$°000 $°000 5’000 $'000 $°000 $°000
Fmancial asset class
Cash at bank and 1n
hand 289,437 - - - - 289,437
Customer accounts
receivable 2,748,390 - - (419,672) (1,136,352) 1,192,366
Financial instruments
owned 12,216,567 (7,664,493) (3,930,312) (406,813) (34,031) 180,918
Collateralised
agreements with
group undertakings 24,818,466 - (9,588,216) - (15,230,250) -
Other assets 798,079 - - - - 798,079

40,870,939  (7,664,493)  (13,518,528)  (826,485) (16,400,633) 2,460,800
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

d. Credit Risk Management (continued)

Financial asset class

Cash at bank and in
hand

Customer accounts
receivable

Financial instruments
owned

Collateralised
agreements with
group undertakings

Other assets

Credit rating equivalent

AAAlAaa
AAlAa2

A/A2

BBB/Baa2
BB/Ba2 or lower
Unrated

As of December 2014
Assets
captured Security
Gross by market Counterparty Cash collateral  Net credit
exposure risk netting collateral received exposure
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
115,919 - - - - 115,919
1,813,812 - - (525,628) {295,613) 992,571
16,349,676 (7,670,661) (7,970,012) (239,923) (53,331) 415,749
22,697,712 - (8,919,643} - (13,778,06%) -
735,796 - - - - 735,796
41,712,915  (7,670,661) (16,889,655) (765,551) (14,127,013) 2,260,035
As of December 2015
Assets
capiured Secunity
Gross by market Counterparty Cash collateral  Net credit
exposure rsk netting  collateral recerved exposure
$°000 $°000 $'000 $°000 $°000 $°000
135,935 - - - - 135,935
321,370 - (74,169) {15,120) - 232,081
30,632,042 - (13,376,487) (787,.869) (15,230,250} 1,237,436
1,028,614 - (64,168) {(21,287) (718,005) 225,154
1,057,693 - (3,704) (2,209) (451,306} 600,474
7,695,285 (7,664,493) - - (1,072) 29,720
40,870,939 (7,664,493) {13,518,528) (826,485) (16,400,633) 2,460,800
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

d.  Credst Risk Management (tontinued)

As of December 2014
Assets
captured Security

Gross by market Counterparty Cash collateral  Net credit
exposure risk netting  collateral received exposure
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'600 5’000 $'000

Credit rating equivalent
AAA/Aaa 4,605 - - - - 4,605
AA/Aa2 262,116 - (66,277) (3,018} (38,581) 154,240
AfA2 33,049,606 - (16,796,984) (756,730} (13,778,069} 1,717,823
BBB/Baa2 202,223 - (24,744) (5,400) {14,750) 157,329
BB/Ba2 or lower 425,040 - (1,650) (403) (226,650) 196,337
Unrated 7,769,325 (7,670,661) - - (68,963) 29,701
41,712,915  (7,670,661)  (16,889,655)  (765,551) (14,127,013) 2,260,035

During the year, the bank revised its approach for the disclosure of credit risk minigams for the current and previous
periods to align it more closely with management’s view of the bank’s credit risk on financial assets, giving
consideration to the expected enforceability of collateral arrangements

The unrated net credit exposure of $30 million as of December 2015 and December 2014 relates to financial assets
for which the bank has not assigned an internally determined public rating agency equivatent

In addition (o credit nisk on financial assets, ihe bank aiso has credit exposure in respect of contingent and forwad

starting resale agreements

The bank’s gross credit exposure related to these activities 15 $65 mullion and $1 75

billion as of December 2015 and December 2014, respectively  However, this watl be fully mitigated by collateral

1f these commitments are fulfilled

As of December 2015 and December 2014, financial assets past due or impaired were not matenal

As a result, the bank did not have net credit exposure to these commitments
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — DECEMBER 2015

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

a.  Financial Assets and Financial Liabihities by Category

The tables below present the carrying value of the bank’s financial assets and financial liabilities by category

Financial assets
Cash at bank and 1n hand
Customer accounts receivable

Financial instruments owned
Collateralised agreements with group
undertakings

Other assets

Fmancial abihities
Customer accounts payable
Deposits by banks

Fiancial instruments sold, but not yet

purchased
Collateralised financings with group
undertakings

Other habilites

Long-term subordinated loans from group

undertakings

As of December 2015

Held for Designated Loans and
trading  at fair value receivables Total
5000 $000 5’000 $’000
- - 289,437 289,437
- 273,835 2,474,555 2,748,390
12,216,567 - - 12,216,567
- 24,818,466 - 24,818,466
- - 798,079 798,079
12,216,567 25,092,301 3,562,071 40,870,939

Held for Designated Amortised
trading  at fair value cost Total
$’000 $°000 $°000 5000
- 6,862,234 8,653,173 15,515,407
- 1,955,165 - 1,955,165
8,822,978 - - 8,822,978
- 9,588,216 - 9,588.216
- 55,659 1,344,305 1,399,964
- - 826,000 826,000
8,822,978 18,461,274 10,823,478 38,107,730
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

a. Fmancial Assets and Financial Liabilities by Category (continued)

As of December 2014
Held for Designated Loans and
trading  at fair value  receivables Total
$’000 $°000 $’000 000
Financial assets
Cash at bank and in hand - - 115919 115,919
Customer accounts recervable - - 1,813,812 1,813,812
Financial instruments owned 16,349,676 - - 16,349,676
Collateralised agreements with group
undertakings - 22,697,712 - 22,697,712
Other assets - - 735,796 735,796
16,349,676 22,697,712 2,665,527 41,712,915
Held for Designated Amortised
trading  at fair value cost Total
$'000 $°000 5°000 $°000
Financial habilities
Customer accounts payable - 4,356,392 7,125,987 11,482,379
Deposits by banks - 3,292,680 - 3,292,680
Financial instruments sold, but not yet
purchased 13,005,360 - - 13,005,360
Collateralised financings with group
undertakings - 8,965,595 - 8,965,595
Other habilities - 74,574 1,466,440 1,541,014
Long-term subordinated loans from group
undertakings - - 826,182 826,182
13,005,360 16,689,241 9,418,609 39,113,210

b. Fair Value Hierarchy

The fair value of a financial instrument 1s the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
hability 1n an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date Financial assets are
marked to bid prices and financial liabilities are marked to offer pnices  Fair value measurements do not include
transaction costs  The bank measures certain financial assets and financial liabilities as a portfolio (1 e, based on
1is net exposure 1o market and/or credit nisks)

FRS 101 has a three-level fair value hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements  The fawr value hierarchy
priontises inputs to the valuation techniques used to measure fair value, giving the highest prionity to level 1 inputs
and the lowest prionty to level 3 mputs A financial asset or financial hability’s level in the fair value hierarchy 15
based on the lowest level of input that 1s significant to its fair value measurement

The fair value hierarchy is as follows

Level 1. Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets 10 which the bank had access at the measurement
date for 1dentical, unrestricted assets or llabilities

Level 2. Inputs to valuation techmques are observable, either directly or indirectly
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continged)
b. Fair Value Hierarchy (continued)
Level 3 One or more inputs to valuation techniques are sigruficant and unobservable

The fair values for substantially all of the bank’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are fair valued on a
recurring basis are based on observable prices and nputs and are classified in levels | and 2 of the fair value
hierarchy ~ Certain level 2 and level 3 financial assets and financial habilities may require appropriate valuation
adjustments that a market participant would require to arrive at fair value for factors such as counterparty and GS
Group’s credit quality, funding nisk, transfer restrictions, hquidity and bid/offer spreads  Valuation adjustments
are generally based on market evidence

¢ Valuation Techniques and Significant Inputs

Cash Instruments. Cash instruments include government bonds and bank loans Valuation techniques and
significant inputs for each level of the fair value hierarchy include

. Level 1 cash instruments are valued using quoted prices for 1dentical unrestricted mstruments in active
markets The bank defines active markets for debt instruments based on both the average daily trading
volume and the number of days with trading activity

*  Level 2 cash instruments can be venfied to quoted pnces, recent trading activity for identical or similar
instruments, broker or dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price
transparency  Consideratron 1s given to the nature of the quotations (e g, indicative or firm) and the
relationship of recent market activity to the prices provided from alternative pricing sources

Valuation adjustments are typically made to level 2 cash nstruments (1) 1f the cash nstrument 1s subject to
transfer restrictions andfor (n) for other premiums and hquidity discounts that a market participant would
require to arrive at fair value  Valuation adjustments are generally based on market evidence

. Level 3 cash mstruments have one or more sigmficant valuation inputs that are not observable Absent
evidence to the contrary, level 3 cash instruments are wmtially valued at transaction price, which ts considered
1o be the best instial estimate of fair value  Subsequently, the bank uses other methodologies to determine
fair value, which vary based on the type of instrument  Valuation inputs and assumptions are changed when
corroborated by substantive observable evidence, including values realised on sales of financial assets

The table below presents the valuation techmques and the nature of significant inputs  These valuation techniques
and significant inputs are generally used to determune the fair values of each type of level 3 cash instrument

Level 3 Cash Instruments | Valuation Techmques and Significant Inputs

Bank loans Valuation techmiques vary by mnstrument, but are generally based on discounted cash flow
techniques

Stgmficant inputs are generally determined based on relative value analyses and include
*+  Market yields implied by transactions of simular or related assets

*  Curmrent levels and changes in market indices such as the 1Traxx CDX and LCDX (indices
that track the performance of corporate credit and loans, respectively)

*  Cument performance of the borrower or loan collateral and recovery assumptions if a
default occurs

*+  Timing of expected future cash flows (duration} which n certain cases, may incorporate
the impact of other unobservable inputs (e g prepayment speeds)
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)
¢.  Valuation Techmques and Significant Inputs (continued)

Derivative Instruments Denvatives may be traded on an exchange (exchange-traded) or they may be privately
negotiated contracts, which are usually referred to as OTC denvatives  Certain of the bank’s OTC derivatives are
cleared and settled through central clearing counterparties (OTC-cleared), while others are bilateral contracts
between two counterparties (bilateral OTC)

The bank’s level 2 and level 3 derivatives are valued using derivative pricing models (e g discounted cash flow
models, correlation models, and models that incorporate option pricing methodologies, such as Monte Carlo
simulatiens}  Price transparency of dersvatives can generally be characterised by product type, as described below

. Interest Rate. In general, the key inputs used to value interest rate derivatives are transparent, even for most
long-dated contracts Interest rate swaps and options denominated in the currencies of leading industrialised
nations are characterised by high trading volumes and tight bid/offer spreads  Interest rate derivatives that
reference indices, such as an inflation index, or the shape of the yield curve (e g , 10-year swap rate vs 2-year
swap rate) are more complex, but the key inputs are generally observable

. Credit Price transparency for credit default swaps, including both single names and baskets of credits, varies
by market and underlying reference entity or obligation  Credit default swaps that reference indices, large
corporates and major sovereigns generally exhibit the most price transparency  For credit default swaps with
other underliers, price transparency varies based on credit rating, the cost of borrowing the underlying
reference obligations, and the availability of the underlying reference obhgations for delivery upon the default
of the 1ssuer  Credit default swaps that reference loans, asset-backed securities and emerging market debt
instruments tend to have less price transparency than those that reference corporate bonds  In addition, more
complex credit derivatives, such as those sensitive to the correlation between two or more underlying
reference obhigations, generally have less price transparency

. Currency Prices for currency derivatives based on the exchange rates of leading industnialised nations,
including those with longer tenors, are generally transparent The prnimary difference between the price
transparency of developed and emerging market currency derivatives 15 that emerging markets tend to be
observable for contracts with shorter tenors

. Equity Price transparency for equity derivatives varies by market and underlier  QOptions on indices and the
common stock of corporates included 1n major equity indices exhibit the most price transparency  Equity
derivatives generally have observable market prices, except for contracts with long tenors or reference prices
that differ significantly from current market prices More complex equity derivatives, such as those sensitive
to the correlation between two or more individual stocks, generally have less price transparency

Liqudity 1s essential to observability of all product types  If transaction volumes dechine, previously transparent
prices and other imputs may become unobservable  Conversely, even highly structured products may at times have
trading volumes large enough to provide observability of prices and other puts

Level I Derrvatives

Level 1 derivatives include short-term contracts for future delivery of securities when the underlying security 1s a
level 1 instrument, and exchange-traded denivatives if they are actively traded and are valued at their quoted market
price

Level 2 Dervatives

Level 2 denivauves include OTC denvatives for which all sigmficant valuation inputs are corroborated by market
evidence and exchange-traded derrvatives that are not actively traded and/or that are valued using models that
calibrate 1o market-clearing levels of OTC derivatives  In evaluating the significance of a valuation nput, the
bank considers, among other factors, a portfolio’s net nisk exposure to that input
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)
¢.  Valuatton Techmques and Sigmficant Inputs (continued)

The selection of a particular model to value a derwvative depends on the contractual terms of and specific risks
mherent 1n the instrument, as well as the availability of pricing information in the market  For denvatives that
trade 1n liqud markets, model selection does not wnvolve significant management judgement because outputs of
models can be calibrated to market-clearing levels

Valuation modeis require a variety of inputs, such as contractual terms, market prices, yield curves, discount rates
(including those denived from interest rates on collateral received and posted as specified in credit support
agreements for collateralised derivatives), credit curves, measures of volatility and correlations of such mputs
Significant inputs to the valuations of level 2 derivatives can be verified to market transactions, broker or dealer
quotations or other alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency ~ Consideration 1s given
to the nature of the quotations (e g indicative or firm) and the relationship of recent market activity to the prices
provided from aliernative pricing sources

Level 3 Derivatives

Level 3 dervatives are valued using models which utilise observable level 1 and/or level 2 inputs, as well as
unobservable level 3 inputs  Unobservable inputs include certain correlations as well as credit spreads and equity
volatility inputs

Subsequent to the mitial valuation of a level 3 dervative, the bank updates the level 1 and level 2 nputs to reflect
observable market changes and any resulting gains and losses are recorded 1n level 3 Level 3 inputs are changed
when corroborated by evidence such as similar marhet transactions, third-party pricing services and/or broker or
dealer quotations or other empirical market data  In cuircumstances where the bank cannot venify the model value
by reference to market transactions, 1t 1s possible that a different valuation model could produce a materially
different estimate of fair value

Where there 15 a difference between the mitial transaction price and the fair value calculated by internal models, a
gain or loss 1s recogmsed after imitial recognition only to the extent that it arises from a change 1n a factor (including
time) that market participants would consider wn setting a price

Valuation Adjustments

Valuation adjustments are integral to determining the fair value of denivative portfolios and are used to adjust the
mud-market valuations produced by derivative pricing models to the approprate exit price valuation These
adjustments incorporate bid/offer spreads, the cost of hquidity, credit valuation adjustments and funding valuation
adjustments, which account for the credit and funding risk nherent tn the uncollateralised portion of derivative
portfolios  The bank also makes funding valuation adjustments to collateralised derivatives where the terms of the
agreement do not permut the bank to deliver or repledge collateral received Market-based inputs are generally
used when calibrating valuation adjustments to market-clearing levels

In addinon, for dervatives that include significant unobservable nputs, the bank makes model or exit price
adjustments to account for the valuation uncertainty present mn the transaction

Customer Accounts Recervable Customer accounts receivable measured at fair value comprises certain bank
foans The signmficant inputs to the valuation of bank loans are consistent with those described above as part of
cash mstruments

Collaterahsed Agreements With Group Undertakings and Collaterahsed Financings With Group
Undertalangs The sigmificant inputs to the valuation of resale and repurchase agreements are funding spreads, the
amount and uming of expected future cash flows and interest rates
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)
¢ Valuation Techniques and Significant Inputs (continued)

Customer Accounts Payable and Deposits by Banks. Customer accounts payable and deposits by banks
measured at fair value comprise certain balances related to deposit taking activities  The significant inputs to the
valuation of these balances are interest rates and the amount and timing of future cash flows

d  Sigmificant Unobservable Inputs Used in Level 3 Fair Value Measurement

As of December 2015 and December 2014, the bank had level 3 asset bank loans of $173 million and $85 malhion,
respectively  Level 3 hability cash instruments as of both December 2015 and December 2014 were not material
Level 3 denivatives as of both December 2015 and December 2014 were not material  The table below presents
the ranges of significant unobservable inputs used to value these level 3 asset bank loans, as well as the related
weighted averages  In the table below

. Ranges represent the significant unobservable inputs that were used 1n the valuaton

. Weighted averages are calculated by weighting each mput by the relative fair value of the financial
instruments

+  The ranges and weighted averages of these inputs are not representative of the appropriate inputs to use when
calculating the fair value of any one bank loan  For example, the highest yield presented tn the tables below
for bank loans 15 appropriate for valuing a specific bank loan but may not be appropriate for valuing any other
bank loan

. Increases in yield or duration used in the valuation of the bank’s level 3 bank loans would result 1n a lower fair
value measurement, while increases in recovery rate would result in a higher fair value measurement

«  The fair value of any one bank loan may be determined using multiple valuation techniques  For example,
market comparables and discounted cash flows may be used together to determine fair value  Therefore, the
level 3 balance encompasses both of these techniques

Valuation Techniques Range of Significant Unobservable Inputs (Weighted Average)
Level 3 Instruments and Significant
Unobser able Inputs As of December 2015 As of December 2014
Bank loans Dhiscounted cash flows
(31;!73 m}ﬂ;on and §85 *  Yield 1 4% 1o 7 8% (5 2%) 1 1% 10 10 7% (4 §%)
million of level 3 assets as
of December 2015 and *  Recovery rate 20 0% to 85 0% (50 6%) 40 0% to 85 0% (64 4%)
December 2014, *  Duration (years) 0904934 26t1060(59)
respechively)

57




GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL BANK
(unlimited company)

26.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — DECEMBER 2015

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

e Faiwr Value of Financtal Assets and Financial Liabilities by Level

The tables below present, by level withun the fair value hierarchy, financial assets and financial ltabilities measured

at fair value on a recurring basis

Financial assets at fair value
Customer accounts receivable

Cash instruments
Derivative instruments
Financial instruments owned

Collateralised agreements with group
undertakings

Financial habilities at fair value
Customer accounts payable
Deposits by banks

Cash instruments
Derivative instruments
Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased

Collateralised financings with group
undertakings

Other liabilities

Net derivatwve instruments

As of December 2015
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£000 $°000 $£°000 $000
- 113,377 160,458 273,835
7,482,228 240,150 12,180 7,734,558
400 4,472,546 9,063 4,482,009
7,482,628 4,712,696 21,243 12,216,567
- 24,818,466 - 24,818,466
7,482,628 29,644,539 181,701 37,308,868
- 6,862,234 - 6,862,234
- 1,955,165 - 1,955,165
4327931 109 661 1902 4 439,494
402 4373910 9,172 4,383,484
4,328,333 4,483,571 11,074 8,822,978
- 9,588,216 - 9,588,216
- 535,659 - 55,659
4,328,333 22,944,845 11,074 27,284,252
2) 98,636 (109) 98,525
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26 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continzed)

e  Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities by Level (continued)

As of December 2014
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Financial assets at fair value
Cash instruments 7,597,302 192,692 85,296 7,875,290
Derivative instruments 65 8,459,644 14,677 8,474,386
Financial mstruments owned 7,597,367 8,652,336 99,973 16,349,676
Collateralised agreements with group
undertakings - 22,697,712 - 22,697,712
7,597,367 31,350,048 99,973 39,047,388
Financial habihties at fair value
Customer accounts payabie - 4,356,392 - 4,356,392
Deposits by banks - 3,292,680 - 3,292,680
Cash instruments 4,399,971 62,964 5.437 4,468,372
Derivative instruments 7,645 8,514,656 14,687 8,536,988
Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased 4,407,616 8,577,620 20,124 13,005,360
Collateralised financings with group
undertahings - 8,005,595 - 8,965,595
Other habihties - 74,574 - 74,574
4,407,616 25,266,861 20,124 29,694,601
Net derivative instruments {7,580) (55,012) (10) (62,602)

During 2015 and 2014, there were no sighificant transfers between level | and level 2 financial assets and financial
liabalities measured at fair value on a reoccurring basis

f. Level 3 Roliforwnard

The tables below present the changes in fair value for all level 3 financial assets and financial liabtlities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis  Gains and losses anising on level 3 assets are recognised within trading profit in the
profit and loss account

. If a financial asset or financial llability was transferred to level 3 duning a reporting period, its entire gain or
loss for the period 1s included n level 3 For level 3 financial assets and financial habilities, increases are
shown as positive amounts, while decreases are shown as negative amounts

= Transfers between levels are recogmised at the beginning of the reporting period in which they occur
Accordingly, the tables do not include gains or losses for level 3 financial assets and financial liabilities that
were transferred out of level 3 prior to the end of the period
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T

Level 3 Rollforward (continued)

Level 3 financial assets and financial Liabilities are frequently economically hedged with level 1 and level 2
financial assets and financial liabilities  Accordingly, level 3 gains or losses that are reported 1n the tables
below for a particular class of financial asset or financial Lhabihty can be partially offset by gains or losses
atirnibutable to level 1 or level 2 in the same class of financial asset or financial hiability or gains or losses
attributable to level 1, level 2 or level 3 1n a different class of financial asset or financial hability  As a result,
gans or losses included in the level 3 rollforward below do not necessarily represent the overall impact on the
bank’s results of operations, liquidity or capital resources

See “Level 3 Rollforward Commentary” below for an explanation of transfers into and transfers out of level 3

Year Ended December 2015

Customer accounts Fimanaial
receivable instruments owned Total
$'000 $°000 $’000
Level 3 financial assets at fair value
Balance, beginning of year - 99,973 99,973
(Loss)/gamn (4,513) 8,666 4,153
Purchases 162,453 3,140 165,593
Sales - (19,198) (19,198)
Settlements (557) {85,962) (86,519)
Transfers into level 3 3,075 20,677 23,752
Transfers out of level 3 - (6,053) (6,053)
Balance, end of year 160,458 21,243 181,701
Finanaial
mstruments sold,
but not yet
purchased Total
$'000 $’000
Level 3 financial abihities at fair value
Balance, beginning of year 20,124 20,124
Loss 5,806 5,806
Purchases (3,749) (3,749)
Sales 187 187
Settlements (11,289) (11,289)
Transfers into level 3 - -
Transfers out of level 3 (5 (5)
Balance, end of year 11,074 11,074
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

f.  Level 3 Rollforward (continued)

Year Ended December 2014

Financial
mstruments owned Total
5’000 $°000
Level 3 financial assets at fair value
Balance, beginning of year 251,061 251,061
Gain 8,389 8,389
Purchases 88,899 88,899
Sales (123,107) (123,107)
Settlements {125,209) (125,209)
Transfers into level 3 - -
Transfers out of level 3 (60) (60)
Balance, end of year 99,973 99,973
Fimancial
mstruments sold,
but not yet
purchased Total
$°000 $°000
Level 3 financial habulities at faw value
Balance, beginming of year 14,456 14,456
LLoss 7,624 7,624
Purchases {2,699) (2,699)
Sales 2,942 2,942
Settlements (2,199) (2,199)
Transfers into level 3 - -
Transfers out of level 3 - -
Balance, end of year 20,124 20,124

g  Level 3 Roliforward Commentary

During 2015 and 2014, there were no significant transfers into or out of level 3 financial assets and financial
habilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

h. Fair Value Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Valued Using Techmques That Incorporate
Unobservable Inputs

The fair value of financial assets and financial habihities may be deterrmined in whole or part using a valuation
technique based on assumptions that are not supported by prices from observable current market transactions in the
same nstrument or based on available observable market data and changing these assumptions will change the
resultant estimate of fair value  The potential impact of using reasonable possible alternative assumptions for the
valuations, including significant unobservable inputs, was not matenal as of December 2015 and December 2014
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26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)
1 Faiwr Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Not Measured at Fawr Value

As of December 2015 and December 2014, the bank had $3 56 billion and $2 67 billion, respectively, of financial
assets and $10 82 billion and $9 42 billion, respectively, of financial habilities that are not measured at fair value
Given these instruments are predominantly short-term 1n nature, their carrying amounts 1n the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value with the exception of a liability which would be recognised in respect of
unfunded bank loans held at amortised cost of $105 mullion and $32 million as of December 2015 and December
2014, respectively  The interest rate associated with long-term subordinated loans from group undertakings (s
variable in nature and approximates prevailling market interest rates for instruments with simular terms and
charactenistics  As such, the carrying amount 1n the balance sheet 1s a reasonable approximatien of fair value

J.  Matunty of Financial Liabilities

The tables below present the cash flows of the bank’s financial habilities by contractual maturity including interest
that will accrue, except for financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased  Financial instruments sold, but not
yet purchased are classified as trading/on demand  Financial liabilities, with the exception of those that are held
for trading or designated at fair value through profit and less, are disclosed at their undiscounted cash flows

The fair values of financial habilities held for trading and financial hiabilities designated at fair value through profit
and loss have been disclosed as this 1s consistent with the values used 1n the hquidity rish management of these
mstruments  Ligumdity nsk on denvatives 1s mingated through master netting agreements and cash collateral

arrangements
As of December 2015
More than More
More than three than one
enc menth menths  yem but  Greater
Less but less but less  less than than
Trading/on than one than three than one five five
demand month months year years years Total
$°000 $°000 $°000 $’000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Financial habihities
Customer accounts
payable 6,513,419 2,797,736 2,077,719 3,886,832 132,909 118,755 15,527,370
Deposits by banks - 416,787 923,790 614,588 - - 1,955,165

Financial instruments

sold, but not yet

purchased 8,822,978 - - - - - 8,822,978
Collateralised

financings with

group undertakings - 9,915 9,578,301 - - - 9,588,216
Other Labilities - 559,981 - - 839,083 - 1,399,964
Long-term

subordinated loans

from group

undertakings - - 4,860 - 957,927 - 962,787
Total — on-balance
sheet 15,336,397 3,784,419 12,584,670 4,501,420 1,930,819 118,755 38,256,480
Total — commiiments - 4,845,030 - 524 550 - 4.846,104

15,336,397 8,629,449 12,584,670 4,501,944 1,931,369 118,755 43,102,584
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26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)
). Matunity of Financial Liabilities (continued)

As of December 2014

More than More
More than three than one
one month months  year but Greater
Less but less but less  less than than
Tradingfon than one than three than one five five
demand month months year years years Total
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $°000 5’000
Financial habihties
Customer accounts
payable 5,007,945 2,687,554 1,192,072 2,454,402 10,638 42,322 11,484,933
Deposits by banks - 720,884 1,600,718 971,078 - - 3,292,680

Financial instruments

sold, but not yet

purchased 13,005,360 - - - - - 13,005,360
Collateralised

financings wath

group undertakings - 23,506 - 8,942,089 - - 8,965,595
Other Lhabilities - 711,975 - 754,425 - 74,614 1,541,014
Long-term

subordinated loans

from group

undertakings - - 5,907 17,722 873,314 - 896,943
Total — on-balance

sheet 18,103,305 4,143,919 2,798,697 13,139,716 883,952 116,936 39,186,525
Total —~ commitments - 4,680,010 - 475 810 - 4,681,295

18,103,305 8,823,929 2,798,697 13,140,191 884,762 116,936 43,867,820

The bank seeks to raise funding with a term approprate for the hiquidity of the assets that are being financed,
including where these commitments are currently unfunded If drawn, the commitments 1n the tables presented
above would primartly be funded from existing deposit taking activities which are remvested with group
undertakings

k. Collatera) Received and Pledged

The bank recewves financial instruments (e g, government and agency obligations, corporate debt securities,
equittes and convertible debentures) as collateral, primarily 1n connection with resale agreements and denivative
transactions The bank obtains cash and securities as collateral on an upfront or contingent basis for derivative
mstruments and collateralised agreements to reduce its credit exposure to individual counterparties

In many cases, the bank 15 permitted to deliver or repledge financial instruments received as collateral in connection
with collateralising derivative transactions and meeting bank settlement requirements

The bank also pledges certain financial nstruments owned 1n connection with repurchase agreements to
counterparties who may or may not have the right to deliver or repledge
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)
K. Collateral Received and Pledged (continued)

The table below presents financial mstruments received as collateral that were available to be delivered, or
repledged and were delivered or repledged by the bank

December 2015 December 2014

$5°000 $000
Collateral available to be delivered or repledged 23,817,889 21,632,021
Collateral that was delivered or repledged 6,332,290 5,388,095

The table below presents information about assets pledged

December 2015 December 2014
$°000 $£°000

Financial instruments owned pledged to counterparties that
Had the right to deliver or repledge 7,124,105 7,234,608
Did not have the nght to deliver or repledge - -

The bank has recerved cash collateral n respect of financial instruments owned of $410 million and $246 millton as
of December 2015 and December 2014, respectively, and posted cash collateral i respect of financial instruments
sold, but not yet purchased of $431 milhon and $538 mitlion as of December 2015 and December 2014,
respectively

| Hedge Accounting

Fair Value Hedges. The bank designates certain interest rate swaps as fair value hedges These nterest rate
swaps hedge changes (n fair value attributable to the relevant benchmark interest rate (e g, London Interbank
Offered Rate (LIBORY)), effectively converting fixed rate obligations into floating rate obligations

The bank applies a statistical method that utihises regression analysis when assessing the effectiveness of its fair
value hedging relationships in achieving offsetiing changes in the fair values of the hedging instrument and the nisk
being hedged (1 ¢, interest rate risk)  An interest rate swap 1s considered highly effective 1n offseting changes n
farr value attributable to changes in the hedged risk when the regression analysis results 1n a coefficient of
determination of 80% or greater and a slope between 80% and 125%

For qualifying fair value hedges, gains or losses on derwvatives and the change in fair value of the hedged item
attnibutable to the hedged risk are included in total operating income  When a derivative 15 no longer designated as
a hedge, any remaming difference between the carrying value and par value of the hedged item 1s amortised over
the remainung life of the hedged 1tem using the effective interest method

The table below presents the gains/{losses) from interest rate derivatives accounted for as hedges, the related hedged
customer deposits and the hedge ineffectiveness on these derivatives

Year Ended Year Ended

December 2015 December 2014

$°000 5’000

Interest rate hedges 22 142
Hedge customer deposits (35) (136)
(13) 6
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LYABILITIES (continued)
l. Hedge Accounting (continued)

The fair value of asset and hability derivative instruments designated as hedges were $2 multion and $56.000,
respectively, as of December 2015

The far value of asset and hability derivative instruments designated as hedges were $2 mullion and $mil,
respectively, as of December 2014

Net Investment Hedging The bank seeks to reduce the impact of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates on its
foreign operations through the use of foreign currency forward contracts  For foreign currency forward contracts
designated as hedges, the effectiveness of the hedge 1s assessed based on the overall changes in the fair value of the
forward contracts (1 e , based on changes in forward rates)

For qualifying net investment hedges, the gains or losses on the hedging instruments, to the extent effective, are
included in the statements of comprehensive income

The fair value of asset and lhiability derivative instruments designated as hedges were $8 mullion and $148,000,
respectively, as of December 2015

The fair value of asset and hability derivative instruments designated as hedges were $5 million and $461,000,
respectively, as of December 2014

m  Transferred Assets

Assets Continued to be Recogmsed m Full Duning the year, the bank transferred certain financial assets where
the transfers failed to meet the derecogmition critena, as contained m {AS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recognition
and Measurement’, and as a result of whuch the bank continues to recognise these assets in full on the halance sheet

The bank transfers assets owned to counterparties in the ordinary course of business to collateralise repurchase
agreements  In these transactions the transferred assets continue to be recognised by the bank for accounting
purposes because the transactions require the financial mstruments to be repurchased at matunty of the agreement
and the bank remains exposed to the price, credit and interest rate risk of these instruments  When the bank
receives cash proceeds from the transfer of the asset, a financial hability 1s recogmised in respect of the
consideration received and recorded within “Collateralised financings with group undertakings”™  When the bank
recewves non cash collateral (in the form of securities) no Liability 15 initially recognised  If collateral received 1s
subsequently sold, the obligation to return the collateral 1s recognised as a hability within “Financial instruments
sold, but not yet purchased”

Other financial assets transferred that continue to be recognised on balance sheet for accounting purposes relate to
pledges of securities as collateral, pnimanly for denvative transactions  The obligations under such derivatives are
recorded 1n “Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased™

The table below presents financial assets which have been transferred but which remain on balance sheet for
accounting purposes The carrying amount of the associated financial habilities generally approximate the carrying
amount of the assels transferred.

December 2015 December 2014
$°000 £°000
Government bonds 7,124,105 7,234,608
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OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The tables below present the bank’s financial assets and financial labilities that are subject to enforceable netting
agreements and offsetting  Gross amounts exclude the effects of both counterparty netting and collateral, and
therefore are not representative of the bank’s economic exposure Amounts are only offset in the balance sheet
when the bank currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amounts and an intention either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the hability simultaneously

The 1ables below also present amounts not offset 1n the balance sheet 1n respect of counterparty netting (1 e, the
netting of financial assets and financial hiabilhities for a given counterparty when a legal right of set-off exists under
an enforceable netting agreement), and cash and secunty collateral received and posted under enforceable credit
support agreements, that do not meet the critenia for offsetting under UK GAAP  Where the bank has received or
posted collateral under credit support agreements, but has not yet determined whether such agreements are
enforceable, the related collateral has not been included in the amounts not offset 1n the balance sheet, 1n the tables
below
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27. OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

As of December 2015
Amounts not offset in the balance sheet
Net
Amounts amount
offsetin  presented
the in the
Gross balance balance Counterparty Cash Security Net
amounts sheet sheet netting  collateral collateral amount
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Financial assets
Customer accounts
recelvable 1,561,986 - 1,561,986 - (363,955) (1,136,352) 61,679
Financial instruments
owned 4,482,009 - 4,482,009 (3,930,312) (362,601) (34,031) 155,065

Collateralised
agreements with
group undertakings 24,841,429 {22,963) 24,818,466 (9,588,216) - (15,230,250) -

Financial assets subject

to enforceable netting

agreements 30,885,424 (22,963) 30,862,461 (13,518,528)  (7126,556) (16,400,633) 216,744
Financial assets not

subject to enforceable

netting agreements 10,008,478 - 10,008,478 - - - 10,008,478

40,893,902  (22,963) 40,870,939  (13,518,528)  (726,556) (16,400,633) 10,225,222

Financial habihities
Customer accounts

payable 394,782 - 394,782 - (362,601) - 32,18
Financial instruments

sold, but not yet

purchased 4,383,484 - 4,383,484 (3,930,312) (363,955) - 89,217
Collateralised

financings with

group undertakings 9,611,179 (22,963) 9,588,216 (9,588,216) - - -

Other habilities 55,659 - 55,659 - - - 55,659
Financial hiabilities
subject to enforceable
netting agreements 14,445,104  (22,963) 14,422,141  (13,518,528)  (726,556) - 177,057
Financial hhabilities not
subject to enforceable
netting agreements 23,685,589 - 23,685,589 - - - 23685589
38,130,693 (22,963) 38,107,730 (13,518,528) (726,556) - 23,862,646

Financia! instruments owned and financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased comprise derivative instruments
and include amounts that are not subject to an enforceable netting agreement or are subject to a nethng agreement
that the bank has not yet determined to be enforceable of $80 million and $32 mullion, respectively

67



(unlimited company)

GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL BANK

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - DECEMBER 2015

27 OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

Financial assets

Customer accounts
recewvable

Financ:al instruments
owned

Collateralhised
agreements with
group undertakings

Financial assets subject
to enforceable netting
agreements

Financial assets not
subject to enforceable
netting agreements

Financial abilities

Customer accounts
payable

Financial instruments
sold, but not yet
purchased

Collateralised
financings with
group undertakings

Other habilities

Financial liabilities
subject to enforceable
netting agreements

Financial habilittes not
subject to enforceable
netting agreements

As of December 2014
Amounts oot offset in the balance sheet

Net

Amounts amount

offsetin  presented

the in the
Gross balance balance Counterparty Cash Secunty Net
amounts sheet sheet netting  collateral collateral amount
$'000 §'000 $°000 $°000 $°'000 $°000 $°000
833,819 - 833,819 - (517,939 (295.613) 20,267
8,474,380 - 8,474,386 (7,968,129  (199,131) (53,331) 253,795
22,709,036 (11,324) 22,697,712 (8,919,643) - (13,778,069) -
32,017,241 (11,324) 32,005,917 (16,887,772) (717,070} (14,127,013) 274,062
9,706,998 - 9,706,998 - - - 9,706,998
41,724,239 (11,324) 41,712,915 (16,887,772  (717,070) (14,127,013) 9,981,660
236,884 - 239,884 - (199,131) - 40,753
8,536,988 - 8,536,988 (7,968,129)  (517,939) - 50,920
8,976,919 (11,324) 8,965,595 (8,919,643) - (45,952) -
74,574 - 74,574 - - - 74,574
17,828,365 (11,324) 17,817,041 (16,887,772)  (717,070) (45,952) 166,247
21,296,169 - 21,296,169 - - - 21,296,169
39,124,534 {11,324) 39,113,210 (16,887,772)  (717.070) (45,952) 21,462,416

Financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased comprise derivative istruments
and include amounts that are not subject 10 an enforceable netting agreement or are subject to a netting agreement
that the bank has not yet determined 10 be enforceable of $95 mullion and $10 million, respectively
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28 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

In January 2016, following the conclusion of an ongoing review of the group’s operations 1n Korea, 1t was
determined that the client execution activities conducted by the Seoul branch would be transferred to group
undertakings, and that the bank’s Seoul branch would subsequently be closed  The bank 15 currently assessing the
financial impact of the closure
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